
 

 

 
Notice of meeting and agenda 
 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
9.45 am Tuesday, 5th March, 2024 

 
Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

 

 

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private 
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk / jacqueline.boyle@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

 

  

Public Document Pack



 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee - 5 March 2024 Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 
 
1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 
 
2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Traffic Regulation Orders 
 
3.1   Proposed Parking Controls: Allanfield, Allanfield Place and 

Dicksonfield – Report by the Executive Director of Place 
7 - 44 

 
3.2   Proposed Parking Controls, Bell’s Mills and Dolphin Gardens 

West – Report by the Executive Director of Place 
45 - 92 

4. Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 and Housing (Scotland) Act 
2006 - To consider miscellaneous applications 
 
4.1   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 6, 5 Warriston Road, 

Edinburgh 

 

93 - 106 

 
4.2   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 1f3, 14 Meadowbank Crescent, 

Edinburgh 

 

107 - 124 

 
4.3   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 1, 15 Coltbridge Millside, 

Edinburgh 

 

125 - 148 

 
4.4   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 54b Annandale Street, 149 - 180 



 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee - 5 March 2024 Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Edinburgh 

 
 
4.5   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 14a Hope Street, Edinburgh 

 

181 - 216 

 
4.6   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 1, 50 West Port, Edinburgh 

 

217 - 234 

 
4.7   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 3f1, 37 Royal Park Terrace, 

Edinburgh 

 

235 - 262 

 
4.8   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 2f3, 77 Rose Street, Edinburgh 

 

263 - 280 

 
4.9   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 92 Hamilton Place, Edinburgh 

 

281 - 298 

 
4.10   Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 15, 42 Maritime Street, 

Edinburgh 

 

299 - 316 

5. Resolution to Consider in Private 
 
5.1   The Sub-Committee is requested, under Section 50(A)(4) of the 

Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, to exclude the public 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they would involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 3, 6, 12 and 14 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 7A of the Act. 

 

 

6. Reports 
 
6.1   Request for Suspension of Taxi Driver’s Licence – Report by the 

Head of Regulatory Services 
317 - 330 

 
6.2   Request for Suspension of Private Hire Driver and Private Hire 331 - 344 



 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee - 5 March 2024 Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Vehicle Licences – Report by the Head of Regulatory Services 

7. Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 - To consider miscellaneous 
applications 
 
7.1   Private Hire Vehicle Licence (New) - Porto Cars Ltd 

 

345 - 354 

 
7.2   Private Hire Vehicle Licence (New) - Porto Cars Ltd 

 

355 - 364 

 
7.3   Private Hire Vehicle Driver's Licence (New) - Ms Qian Guo 

 

365 - 376 

 
7.4   Private Hire Vehicle Driver's Licence (Renewal) - Mr Yusef Eroglu 

 

377 - 388 

8. Applications to Vary the Conditions of Taxi or Private Hire Car 
Licences: Exemption to Policy 
 
8.1   Applications to Vary the Conditions of Taxi or Private Hire Car 

Licences: Exemption to Policy 

 

389 - 430 

Nick Smith 
Service Director – Legal and Assurance 

 

Committee Members 

Councillor Joanna Mowat (Convener), Councillor Jack Caldwell, Councillor Denis 
Dixon, Councillor Margaret Arma Graham, Councillor Martha Mattos-Coelho, Councillor 
Susan Rae, Councillor Neil Ross, Councillor Val Walker and Councillor Norman Work 

Information about the Licensing Sub-Committee 

The Licensing Sub-Committee consists of 9 Councillors and usually meets twice a 
month. 

This meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee is being held in the City Chambers, High 
Street, Edinburgh and virtually by Microsoft Teams.  



 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee - 5 March 2024 Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 
Jamie Macrae, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, 
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, email 
jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk / jacqueline.boyle@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

The above items are not for publication as they fall within the description of exempt 
information and, consequently, are likely to be considered in private. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 
committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library.. 

 

 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing Sub-Committee of the Regulatory 
Committee 

9.45am, Tuesday, 5 March 2024   

Proposed Parking Controls, Allanfield, Allanfield Place, 

and Dicksonfield 
 

Executive/routine 
Wards 

Executive 
12 - Leith Walk 
13 - Leith 

1. Recommendations 

1.1  It is recommended that Licensing Sub-Committee: 

 
1.1.1 Set aside the objections to the Traffic Regulation Order TRO/22/17 as 

previously advertised and authorised by the Transport and Environment 

Committee on 21 June 2021; and  

 
1.1.2 Approve the making of the TRO/22/17 as advertised to include Allanfield, 

Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield, as part of proposed extension of the 

existing N1 Zone of the Controlled Parking Zone.   

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Gavin Brown, Network Management and Enforcement Manager 

E-mail: gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3823 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.1

mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 2 of 37 
 

Report 

Proposed Parking Controls, Allanfield, Allanfield Place, 

and Dicksonfield 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 On 17 June 2021, Transport and Environment Committee authorised the 

commencement of the legal process to add Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and 

Dicksonfield to the existing N1 Zone of the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). 

2.2 The draft Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) detailing the proposed changes was 

advertised on 24 March 2023 at which point those interested in the scheme were 

invited to make their views known to the Council. 

2.3 Committee is asked to consider the objections received during the formal 

advertising of this Traffic Regulation Order (TRO/22/17), which are mainly 

themed around resident’s title deeds and land adoption within Dicksonfield in 

particular, and to determine whether or not to proceed to make the order since 

more than six objections were received. 

3. Background 

3.1 Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield are residential streets located within 

the general boundary of Zone N1 of the CPZ, yet presently only minor sections of 

Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield are subject to double yellow line 

parking restrictions. Uncontrolled adopted sections of Allanfield, Allanfield Place, 

and Dicksonfield create a situation that allows unmanaged parking opportunities 

within the CPZ boundary. 

3.2 Uncontrolled streets that lie within the boundary of the CPZ undermine the 

efficiency of a CPZ as a solution that supports Council policies, primarily in terms 

of discouraging commuting into the CPZ by private car in line with the Council’s 

2030 carbon neutral goal. 

3.3 A TRO is required to add these streets to the existing N1 Zone of the CPZ. Based 

on this, Transport and Environment Committee authorised the commencement of 

the legal process to add these streets to the existing N1 Zone of the CPZ, with 

Page 8



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 3 of 37 
 

the location plans showing the proposed extent of the parking controls for 

Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield included in Appendix 1.  

3.4 The TRO was made in terms of Section 1 of the Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984.  

The detailed process for making a TRO is set out in the Local Authorities Traffic 

Orders (Procedure)(Scotland) Regulations 1999.  In terms of the Regulations given 

the scope of TRO/22/17 where there remain unresolved objections, it remains a 

matter for the Council as Roads Authority to determine whether to proceed to make 

each order as advertised. 

3.5 In terms of the Council’s statutory scheme of delegation the Executive Director of 

Place has the power to make TROs provided no statutory objections are received 

and no more than 6 material objections are received from the public.   

3.6 Where the decision on whether to approve a TRO is referred to the Committee, it 

may either: 

3.6.1 Approve the TRO as advertised; 

3.6.2 Approve the TRO with minor modifications.  Provided such modifications 

would not extend the application of the order or increase the stringency of 

any prohibition or restriction contained in it (Regulation 10 of the 1999 

Regulations); 

3.6.3 Direct that a public hearing is to be held on the proposed TRO, in terms of 

Regulation 8 of the 1999 Regulations, chaired by an Independent Person. 

3.6.4 Approve making the TRO in part; or  

3.6.5 Refuse the TRO. 

4. Main report 

4.1 In accordance with legislative requirements relating to traffic orders, the Council 

carried out an initial consultation with statutory consultees in October 2022. The 

second stage consultation took place in March 2023, during which feedback and 

objections were invited, with such feedback forming the basis of this report.   

4.2 The proposals to install Shared Use parking bays, Resident Permit Holders Only 

parking bays and yellow line restrictions at Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and 

Dicksonfield advertised under TRO/22/17, received seven objections. Six objections 

were received from Dicksonfield and one from Allanfield residents.  

4.3 Main objection themes included land adoption, deed of declaration of conditions, 

and the effect on Dicksonfield and Allanfield residents’ private unadopted parking 

areas as a result of proposals. Other objection themes raised by residents are noted 

in Appendices 2 and 3. 

 

Page 9



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 4 of 37 
 

 

 

 

Land adoption and Deed of Declaration of Conditions 

4.4 The Council received objections relating to carriageway adoption and parking areas 

within Dicksonfield where Permit Holders Only parking bays have been proposed. 

To clarify, the process leading to the adoption of any newly built road begins whilst 

the development is at planning stage, when the developer will apply to the Council 

for Road Construction Consent (RCC). That application process determines what 

parts of the development are considered “Roads”, as defined in the Roads 

(Scotland) Act 1984. 

4.5 The RCC process automatically classifies any area covered by that RCC as being a 

road, regardless of its proposed adoption status. That classification in-turn means 

that all applicable powers provided for in legislation will also apply to that road. 

While there is generally no legal requirement for any road to be adopted, any 

person or persons who maintain a private road can apply to the Council to have that 

road formally adopted. Once adopted, it is the Council who assume responsibility 

for maintenance of that road. 

4.6 In this case, as is common with other developments, the request for the Council to 

adopt Dicksonfield came from the developer. The developer formally applied to the 

Council to have the carriageway, including all associated footways, adopted for 

maintenance by the Council. Having concluded that the affected roads had 

achieved adoptable standard, the Council issued the adoption certificate on 17 

December 2008, shown in Appendix 4.  

4.7 With regards to land ownership, it should be considered that the Council rarely 

owns the land that lies under any road. Ownership of the land tends to rest in most, 

but not all, cases with the owners of adjacent properties.  It is also not uncommon 

for there to be the Deed of Declaration of Conditions, such as the five objectors 

refer to, that ostensibly give parties specific legal rights in respect of the land.  

However, the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 and the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, 

state that, for all roads, the right to determine how that road may be used rests 

solely with the local road authority. No other person, persons or organisation is 

legally permitted to manage or control the use of any road, even if they own the land 

the road rests upon 

4.8 As a road - defined in the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 as a way over which there is a 

public right of passage - this part of Dicksonfield has been freely accessible by the 

public since the road was constructed. The proposed inclusion of this area into the 

CPZ does not materially impact upon the rights of the public to use or access this 

area. 

Page 10



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 5 of 37 
 

4.9 The adopted status of this part of Dicksonfield does not extend to any shaded areas 

on the adoption plan (Appendix 4). Nor does it apply to any structures or boundary 

fences or walls. The adoption applies only to those areas detailed on the adoption 

certificate (Appendix 5), meaning that the Council has only assumed responsibility 

for maintaining the surface and fabric of the road itself, plus the surface drainage 

and street lighting, as detailed in the certificate. 

Parking controls in unadopted areas of Allanfield and Dicksonfield 

4.10 Another prominent objection theme relates to parking controls within the unadopted 

areas of Dicksonfield and Allanfield.  Objectors claimed that there would be a loss of 

space in the unadopted parking areas as a consequence of drivers not applying for 

a Resident Parking Permit or utilising Pay and Display options:. 

4.10.1 Two objectors raised this concern for Dicksonfield where there is currently a 

private parking contractor for the unadopted parking areas; and  

4.10.2 One objector for Allanfield commented there is not a private parking 

contractor operating at this location. 

4.11 It should be noted that there will still be areas of unadopted parking within 

Dicksonfield and Allanfield (Appendix 5). The Council can only control areas of road 

which are adopted, therefore any existing contractual agreements which are in 

place between residents and any contractor which currently manages the private 

unadopted parking areas will remain in place, as is the case in Dicksonfield. 

Allanfield does not have a parking contractor to monitor the unadopted parking 

areas. 

4.12 Parking controls will promote better management of the available kerbside space, 

removing commuter vehicles and helping to enable all residents with permits to 

access local parking opportunities, whilst also enhancing parking opportunities for 

visitors and carers using visitor parking permits or through Pay and Display options. 

4.13 It should also be noted that, following the Strategic Review of Parking, the 

surrounding area has since seen the introduction of a CPZ across large parts of 

Leith, through Zone N7 which borders with the existing N1 Zone and is fully 

operational. Strengthening controls in Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield 

will therefore not only provide long-term protection against those who may currently, 

or in the future, seek free areas in which to park, but will ensure such streets are in-

keeping with the broader parking controls in-place across this area of the city. 

4.14 Parking controls also provide benefits for residents, their visitors, delivery vehicles 

and waste collection services. Regular patrols by Parking Attendants also address 

one of the points made by objectors in terms of safety and security, with such an 

enforcement presence serving to provide additional oversight at an on-street level. 

More sustainable travel infrastructure requested as part of CPZ inclusion 

4.15 An objection received from the Dicksonfield residents’ association asked that the 

Council consider introducing more environmentally friendly infrastructure to assist 

Page 11



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 6 of 37 
 

enhance the amenities and travel choices for residents’ including the introduction of 

Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging points, Car Club parking bays, and cycle storage 

containers. 

4.16 Whilst the Council supports the travel choice options above, upon investigation 

Dicksonfield is seen to already be well connected in terms of cycle storage 

containers, Car Club provision and EV chargers within a short walking distance to 

the development (Appendix 4). 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Although objections have been received in response to this TRO/22/17 proposal, 

records confirm that the Council has legally adopted the car parking areas where 

parking restrictions are proposed in Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield. 

The Council has also followed the legal requirements of the TRO process to date.  

5.2 Officers consider the range of inherent benefits associated with incorporating these 

streets within the larger surrounding CPZ outweigh the number of issues raised, as 

detailed in this report and recommend that Committee: 

5.2.1 Set aside the seven representations; and 

5.2.2 Make TRO/22/17 as advertised;  

Implementation  

5.3 Should Committee authorise the proposals for Allanfield, Allanfield Place and 

Dicksonfield TRO/22/17, then all objectors will be contacted to advise them of this 

decision and the Council will conclude the legal process to introduce the 

aforementioned streets to the N1 zone of the CPZ. 

5.4 Once the TRO has been made, then arrangements will be made to have the new 

restrictions introduced on-street. It is anticipated that the changes proposed by the 

Order will begin to be implemented by summer 2024. 

6. Financial Impact 

6.1 There will be costs involved in processing the TROs and introducing Permit Holder 

Only and Shared Use parking bays in Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield 

as well as for the introduction of signs and road markings associated with any new 

controls. These costs will be contained within existing Parking budgets. 

6.2 The introduction of Shared Use and Permit Holder Only parking bay opportunities to 

Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield may result in a small increase in permit 

income to the Council, as well as Pay and Display income. This income will be 

allocated towards the operation of the Council’s parking scheme and allocated to 

the funding of transport improvements, in accordance with the legislative 

requirements for income raised from parking charges. 

Page 12



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 7 of 37 
 

7. Equality and Poverty Impact 

7.1 The City Mobility Plan (CMP) sets out Edinburgh’s strategic framework for achieving 

sustainable and effective mobility across the city, with policy measure Movement 34 

focused on parking controls: ‘Extend the coverage and operational period of parking 

controls in the city to manage parking availability for the benefit of local residents 

and people with mobility difficulties.’ 

7.2 The 2019 CMP had an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) undertaken, and in 

December 2023 a ‘Delivering Actions For Parking – Supporting Information: 

Controlled Parking Zones’ IIA was finalised as part of the broader CMP 

Implementation Plan. The CMP and the Controlled Parking Zones IIAs are 

published and publicly available on the Council’s website. The Controlled Parking 

Zones IIA assesses impacts on myriad service users associated with expanding 

Controlled Parking Zones. The Controlled Parking Zone IIA identifies the following 

positive impacts: 

• The ability to keep streets clear of hazardous parking enabling the safe flow of 

traffic.  

• Discouraging commuter parking allows local residents to park closer to their 

homes. 

• Improved air quality within Edinburgh makes the city a more pleasant place to 

work particularly for those working outdoors. 

• Waiting or loading restrictions can help discourage private car use while 

encouraging the use of public transport as well as walking, wheeling and cycling. 

7.3 Negative impacts that the IIA noted included the introduction of Pay and Display 

and Permit Holder Only parking bays would incur cost to existing residents who 

wished to purchase a permit or park their vehicle in new CPZ bays. Costs would 

also be experienced by trades workers, carers, delivery vehicles and visitors. 

7.4 Mitigation measures include: 

7.4.1 That low emission vehicle owners are entitled to a reduced permit price with 

more polluting vehicles paying more; and  

7.4.2 That Blue Badge holders can: 

7.4.2.1 Park free of charge in Pay and Display bays and Shared Use bays;  

7.4.2.2 Apply for a free resident’s permit; and  

7.4.2.3 Apply for double the amount of visitor parking permits usually 

allocated to other residents, at half the standard price. 

8. Climate and Nature Emergency Implications 

8.1 As a public body, the Council has statutory duties relating to climate emissions and 

biodiversity.  As part of the City Mobility Plan, a Strategic Environmental 

Page 13

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29320/city-mobility-plan-2021-2030
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1228963/city-mobility-plan
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1599310/delivering-actions-for-parking-controlled-parking-zones
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/30541/city-mobility-plan-including-lez-strategic-environmental-assessment-sea-jacobs-the-city-of-edinburgh-council-february-2021-


Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 8 of 37 
 

Assessment was carried out, which concluded that the cumulative impacts of 

managing private car use and reducing commuting by private car travel, as enacted 

through parking controls proposed in this report, would have a positive impact on 

reducing environmental impact and responding to climate change. 

8.2  The outcome of the TRO will allow proposals to progress and continue to be 

implemented which in turn is intended to positively support environmental and 

climate change requirements. 

9. Risk, policy, compliance, governance and community impact 

9.1 The Council’s Strategic Review of Parking concluded the introduction of a 

Controlled Parking Zones to Leith in 2023. The proposals being promoted by 

TRO/22/17 are aligned to and strengthen the recent CPZ changes in the 

surrounding area, whilst also helping support the Council’s City Mobility Plan policy 

Movement 34 focused on parking controls. 

9.2 TROs are required to enable enforcement of parking restrictions, alongside 

appropriate road markings with accompanying signage. This process includes a 

pre-TRO consultation period, followed by a statutory consultation period. 

Traffic Regulation Order Statutory Consultation 

9.3 The legal processes associated with TRO/22/17 have been conducted in 

accordance with statutory requirements, including consultation with statutory 

bodies, Community Councils and local resident and amenity groups. 

9.4 Formal advertisements of traffic orders to the general public are communicated 

online, and via local press which explains their opportunity to object or support the 

proposals. Comments received from the public are taken into consideration before 

determining whether to proceed with or abandon any proposals. 

9.5 Ahead of the statutory TRO consultation commencement street notices were 

erected on street lighting at the entrance to Allanfield. Allanfield Place, and 

Dicksonfiled as well as other street lights within each street. 

9.6 There is no requirement to send letters to individual property owners within any of 

the three the developments as part of the TRO process. 

10. Background reading/external references 

10.1 Proposed Parking Controls – Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield, report to 

Transport and Environment Committee 17 August 2021 

10.2 Delivering the City Mobility Plan - Parking Action plan 2023 

10.3 Integrated Impact Assessment - Delivering Actions for Parking – Controlled Parking 

Zones 

10.4 Strategic parking review (Leith) – The City of Edinburgh Council  

Page 14

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/30541/city-mobility-plan-including-lez-strategic-environmental-assessment-sea-jacobs-the-city-of-edinburgh-council-february-2021-
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39327/7.6%20-%20Proposed%20Parking%20Controls%20-%20Allanfield%20Allanfield%20Place%20and%20Dicksonfield.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39327/7.6%20-%20Proposed%20Parking%20Controls%20-%20Allanfield%20Allanfield%20Place%20and%20Dicksonfield.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s53890/7.4%20-%20Parking%20Action%20plan%20with%20appendix.pdf
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1599310/delivering-actions-for-parking-controlled-parking-zones
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1599310/delivering-actions-for-parking-controlled-parking-zones
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/parking/strategic-parking-review-1/2


Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 9 of 37 
 

10.5 Controlled Parking and Priority Parking Protocol  

10.6 Residents Permits on Private Roads Protocol 

11. Appendices 

Appendix 1 Proposed Restrictions and Location Plans 

Appendix 2  A schedule of the main issues raised through material objections received 

against Traffic Regulation Order TRO/22/17 

Appendix 3  A schedule of the main issues raised through non-material objections 

received against Traffic Regulation Order TRO/22/17 

Appendix 4  Consultation data 

Appendix 5  Road adoption certificates 

Appendix 6  Road adoption plans for Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield 

Appendix 7  TRO/22/17 Draft Traffic Regulation Order 

Appendix 8  TRO/22/17 Statement of Reasons 

Appendix 9  Advertised Traffic Regulation Order drawings  

 

 

  

Page 15

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25696/controlled-parking-and-priority-parking-protocol
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25697/residents-permits-on-private-roads-protocol


Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 10 of 37 
 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Restrictions and Location Plans 

Overview of Zone N1 and its boundaries.   

 

  

 

Area Location Plan showing Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield already 

situated within the within the existing Zone N1 and new Zone N7 boundary with Zone 

N1.  

 

 
 

Page 16



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 11 of 37 
 

              Allanfield proposals 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 12 of 37 
 

Allanfield Place proposals 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 13 of 37 
 

 

Dicksonfield proposals 

 

 

Page 19



Appendix 2 – A schedule of the main issues raised through material objections received against Traffic 

Regulation Order TRO/22/17 

 

Issue Objections Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 4 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                     Number of Objections 3  

Deed of Declaration 
and Conditions and 
existing parking rights 

 

It is our understanding that 
residents have the rights to park 
in the development car parking 
spaces at Dicksonfield. 

 

 

The Deed of Declaration of 
Conditions defines the "Common 
Ground" as including any parking 
spaces serving the "Development 
Area". Dicksonfield residents 
have a right in common along 
with other proprietors within the 
development to the Common 
Ground. The Deed of Declaration 
Conditions was granted by Barratt 
Homes Ltd and recorded on 20 
March 2000. 

The proposed CPZ 
restrictions are proposed on 
an adopted road and the 
Roads authority control the 
parking, therefore there is no 
actual legal loss of parking in 
this case. 

Following completion of the 
RCC process in 2008 this 
land became an adopted 
road. The right to determine 
how the adopted road may 
be used rests solely with the 
Council as the local road 
authority. Regardless of any 
ownership rights owners may 
have to the underlying land, 
no other person, persons or 
organisation is legally 
permitted to manage or 
control the use of any road.   

No action required 2, 3, 5 

P
age 20



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 15 of 37 
 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 2  

Land adoption and 
Private land disputes. 

 

The proposal to convert the 
existing development car parking 
spaces running along the front of 
Blocks 3 to 6 to permit holders 
only takes away parking bays 
from residents. Also removing the 
car parking spaces outside 
numbers 13 and 14 to install 
shared use parking bays will also 
take away parking spaces for 
residents. 

 

The proposed bays are on 
adopted land maintained by 
the Council. By adding both 
permit holders only and 
shared use bays offers 
benefits to residents and 
visitors. 

 

 

 

 
 

No action required 2, 6 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 3   

Land adoption and 
Private land disputes. 

 

The proposal to extend the 
existing double yellow lines in 
Dicksonfield which run along the 
southern edge of Block 13, and 
then extend north-eastwards 
along the rear of Block 13 will 
prevent the use of a number of 
the existing development car 
parking spaces at the rear of 
Block 13, Dicksonfield. 

 

 

 

 

This is not the case; the 
proposed double yellow line 
will only apply on the outer 
edge of the private spaces 
on the adopted carriageway. 
Private spaces will remain in 
place, unaffected for use. 

 
 
 

No action required 2, 4, 7 

 

 

P
age 21



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 16 of 37 
 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 1  

Effect on existing 
private non-adopted 
parking areas 
managed by private 
contractor 

The factors for the development 
at Dicksonfield (James Gibb) 
have been contracted to among 
other duties issue parking permits 
to each property at Dicksonfield. 
The factors have contracted the 
services of a third party to patrol 
the development and issue 
parking fines in respect of 
vehicles parked in the 
development car parking spaces 
without a valid parking permit. 

 

The private parking areas 
which are not adopted could 
still be managed by the 
private company however 
enforcement on the adopted 
carriageway could only be 
undertaken by Council 
Parking Attendants. This 
would assist with combatting 
non-residents’ using these 
areas as an alternative to 
parking within the CPZ. 
 
 
 
 
 

No action required 2 

Allanfield                                                                                                                            Number of Objections 1  

Effect on existing 
private non-adopted 
parking areas. 

Within the Allanfield scheme you 
will end up pushing motorists into 
the residential parking spaces 
where there are no private 
parking restrictions in place for 
residents. People who are 
currently using the free spaces 
within the scheme and walk up to 
their workplace is an issue but the 
Council will exacerbate the 
problem and just push these 

There would be no change to 
this parking arrangement. 
The private parking areas of 
Allanfield are not currently 
managed.  

No action required 1 

P
age 22



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 17 of 37 
 

motorists to the spaces directly 
outside the buildings. 

 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 3  

Effect on property 
value 

The effect of the introduction of 
TRO/22/17 would be to interfere 
with existing parking rights by 
reducing the number of parking 
spaces in respect of which 
Dicksonfield owners/residents can 
exercise their parking rights and 
would therefore reduce the value 
of properties in Dicksonfield 

 

No evidence is supplied 
which suggests newly 
implemented Controlled 
Parking Zones diminish 
property value in affected 
streets.  

It could be argued value may 
also be positively affected by 
the CPZ introduction as 
residents could benefit from 
quality of life improvements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No action required 2, 3, 5 

P
age 23



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 18 of 37 
 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 1  

More sustainable 
travel options should 
be included instead of 
normal parking bays 

To improve amenity in 
Dicksonfield and the wider 
neighbourhood, and in line with 
the trend towards more 
environmentally responsible travel 
options, we would suggest that 
the area controlled by CEC within 
Dicksonfield should include one or 
two EV charging points and one or 
two car club spaces. 

Similarly some space could be 
given for secure cycle storage 
bins – existing cycle storage is 
susceptible to theft. 

There is a selection of 
charging bays available 
within a short distance of the 
development as it stands. 

Montgomery Street has fast 
chargers and at East London 
Street there are rapid and 
fast chargers available. 

There are several Car Club 
locations nearby with 
vehicles in place, at 
Brunswick Road and 
MacDonald Road. 
If Committee thought the 
suggestions should be 
considered further this would 
be considered and 
investigated but not as part 
of this TRO. 

No action required 4 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                       Number of Objections 1  

TRO proposal drawing The drawing of the existing 
situation on shows no double 
yellow lines in Dicksonfield. There 
are already sections of double 
yellow lines in areas that are 
deemed unsuitable to park. These 
are satisfactory. 

The TRO proposal drawing 
clearly outlines the extents of 
the proposed double yellow 
line waiting restrictions. Any 
existing waiting restrictions 
within Dicksonfield are not 
supported by an existing 
TRO, except those at the 

No action required 6 

P
age 24



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 19 of 37 
 

junction with Brunswick 
Road. 

 

 

P
age 25



Appendix 3 – A schedule of the main issues raised through non-material objections received against Traffic 

Regulation Order TRO/22/17 

 

Issue Objections Response Action Related 
Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 4 

Allanfield                                                                                                                            Number of Objections 1  

Planned 
Implementation Date 

When do you plan to implement 
this change? I couldn’t see this on 
your notice? 
 

We are unable to provide 
TRO implementation dates 
during the consultation stage 
as we can only plan required 
works once Committee has 
approved the TRO to be 
finalised. 

No action required 1 

Dicksonfield                                                                                                                      Number of Objections 2  

Ineffective notification 
of TRO proposals. 

The proposal has only been 
attached to a single lamppost at 
the entrance to the Dicksonfield. 
This deprives them of their right of 
objecting. A letter to each 
neighbour should certainly be a 
more appropriate approach to 
guarantee an extended 
acknowledgment. 

Street notices were erected 
in accordance with 
legislation. Street notices 
were erected at various 
locations at Dicksonfield, 
Allanfield, and Allanfield 
Place. All proposals are 
listed online and in local 
press. 

No action required 3, 6 

P
age 26



Appendix 4 – Consultation Data 

 

Number Objection Location 

 
(1) 

 
I’m objecting on the basis of the fact that within the Allanfield scheme you’ll end up pushing motorists into the 
residential parking spaces where there is no private parking restrictions in place for residents. People who are 
currently using the free spaces within the scheme and walk up to their workplace is an issue but the Council will 
exacerbate the problem and just push these motorists to the spaces directly outside the buildings. When do you 
plan to implement this change? I couldn’t see this on your notice? 
 
 

 
Allanfield 

 
(2) 

 
Elements of TRO/22/17 being objected to 
 
1.The proposal, per map tiles 1163 and 1222, to convert the existing development car parking spaces running 
along the front of Blocks 3 to 6 at Dicksonfield into permit holders’ parking spaces (“element 1”). 
2.The proposal, per map tile 1222, to convert the existing development car parking spaces running along the 
front of Blocks 13 and 14 at Dicksonfield and to the south west of Block 13 at Dicksonfield into “Shared use 
parking places” (Permit holders / Pay and Display / Pay by phone) (“element 2”). 
3.The proposal, per map tile 1222, to extend the existing double yellow lines in Dicksonfield which run along the 
southern edge of Block 13, so that those double yellow lines would extend north-eastwards along the rear of 
Block 13, thereby preventing the use of a number of the existing development car parking spaces at the rear of 
Block 13 at Dicksonfield (“element 3”). 
 
Grounds for objecting to elements 1, 2 and 3 of TRO/22/17 
1.As explained further below in the “parking rights” section, elements 1, 2 and 3 of TRO/22/17 outlined above 
would interfere with the existing rights enjoyed by owners of properties at Dicksonfield, by virtue of the Deed of 
Declaration of Conditions applicable to the development (see below), to park private motor vehicles in the car 
parking spaces affected by those elements, as those affected car parking spaces are subject to those existing 
parking rights. 

 
Dicksonfield 

P
age 27



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 22 of 37 
 

2.Elements 1, 2 and 3 of TRO/22/17 are not necessary as there is an existing system of parking enforcement in 
place at Dicksonfield, to control and enforce parking in all of the existing development car parking spaces in 
respect of which owners of properties at Dicksonfield have rights to park (these are highlighted in yellow on the 
Title Plan attached to my second e-mail), including those car parking spaces affected by elements 1, 2 and 3.  
 
The factors for the development at Dicksonfield (James Gibb) have been contracted to (among other duties) 
issue parking permits to each property at Dicksonfield. The factors have contracted the services of a third party 
(which I believe is National Parking Enforcement Limited) to patrol the development and issue parking fines in 
respect of vehicles parked in the development car parking spaces without a valid parking permit. This 
enforcement work also covers the development parking spaces affected by elements 1, 2 and 3. There are 
several prominent signs displayed at each block of development car parking spaces at Dicksonfield which 
indicate that this is private land subject to private parking. These signs give detailed terms and conditions and 
warn that parking a vehicle without a valid parking permit in these spaces will result in a fine.  
 
Given that there is already an effective system of car parking enforcement in operation in respect of all of the 
development car parking spaces at Dicksonfield (including those spaces affected by elements 1, 2 and 3), then 
elements 1, 2 and 3 of TRO/22/17 are not necessary. 
 
3.Furthermore, element 3 (i.e. the extension of the double yellow lines as described above in the “elements 
being objected to” section) would prevent the use of approximately 3 existing development car parking spaces to 
the rear of Block 13 at Dicksonfield. The Statement of Reasons for making TRO/22/17 notes that one of the 
reasons for making this TRO is to introduce “yellow lines in locations where it would be unsafe or inappropriate 
to allow parking”. Given that the Deed of Declaration of Conditions applicable to the development at Dicksonfield 
(and which established and identified the development car parking spaces) was recorded in the General 
Register of Sasines in March 2000, I understand that all of the development car parking spaces, including those 
affected by element 3, have existed and been in continuous use since that time, or at least since sometime in 
2001 or early 2002 at the latest. These longstanding car parking spaces are both safe and appropriate places to 
park and therefore element 3 of TRO/22/17 is unnecessary.  
 
4.The amenity value of the rights to park in the development car parking spaces at Dicksonfield, which rights are 
enjoyed by owners of properties at Dicksonfield by virtue of the Deed of Declaration of Conditions applicable to 
the development (see below), are already reflected in the prices of the properties in Dicksonfield. The effect of 
elements 1, 2 and 3 of TRO/22/17 would be to interfere with these parking rights by reducing the number of 

P
age 28



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 23 of 37 
 

parking spaces in respect of which Dicksonfield owners/residents can exercise their parking rights and would 
therefore reduce the value of properties in Dicksonfield. 
By virtue of a Deed of Declaration of Conditions granted by Barratt Homes Ltd and recorded in the General 
Register of Sasines (Midlothian) on 20 March 2000, the owner(s) of each property (referred to as “the 
Proprietor(s)”) at Dicksonfield has “a right in common along with the whole other proprietors within the 
development at Princess Square, Brunswick Road, Edinburgh [i.e. Dicksonfield] in and to the Common Ground 
pertaining thereto as defined in the said Deed of Declaration of Conditions” (i.e. the Deed of Declaration 
Conditions granted by Barratt Homes Ltd and recorded in the GRS (Midlothian) on 20 March 2000) (“the Deed 
of Conditions”). The Deed of Conditions defines the "Common Ground" as including any parking spaces serving 
the "Development Area" (i.e. Dicksonfield) as a whole and defines the "Parking Spaces" as being the parking 
spaces tinted yellow on the Title Plan. (Please see my second e-mail for a copy of the Title Plan, which shows 
the development car parking spaces tinted yellow) Condition SIXTEENTH of the Deed of Conditions prohibits 
“Proprietors” from parking or leaving cars in the Development Area other than in or on the designated car 
parking spaces. 

 
(3) 

 
I reside with my wife and 2 year old daughter; and the present objection relates to the proposed regulation 
TRO/22/17 affecting the Dicksonfield state. 
  
First of all I would like to object how this has been notified (or more the lack of notification). The proposal has 
only been attached to a single lamppost at the entrance to the Dicksonfield state via Brunswick Road. However, 
there are three other access points to the state which have not been signposted. Any person using these or a 
vehicle, which probably is a majority, will not have been made aware of the proposal. This deprives them of their 
right of objecting. A letter to each neighbour should certainly be a more appropriate approach to guarantee an 
extended acknowledgment. 
  
Secondly I would like to intimate that I completely object to the proposal base on several grounds: 
  
A) Dicksonfield is solely a residents state (only flats). The inclusion of permit parking will inevitably bring non-
residents users; people which has no business in Dicksonfield and that otherwise would not be here. An 
increased influx of people causes an increase deterioration of the state that we residents then pay for. 
  
B) This external use will certainly be frequent during weekends evenings/nights due to proximity to city centre 
and the lack of requirement to pay for permit parking during those periods. This will inevitably bring anti-social 

 
Dicksonfield P

age 29



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 24 of 37 
 

behaviour, noise, people using the state as a toilet, littering. Nuisance to a currently quiet and respectful area. 
This is going to disturb families like mine which currently enjoy living in a reasonable safe and enclosed state. 
  
C) A reduction in private land/parking will have a negative effect in the value of the properties for all residents. 
We (the owners) bought the properties with the premise to have access and vehicular use to the land of the 
state. Your proposal will not provide compensation or benefit to any owner/resident. 
  
Thirdly I would question how appropriate is for the council to one-sided take over this private land. Private land 
should be only be repossessed if it is in the interest of the public. Certainly, it is not in the interest of the 
residents, and it seems unconceivable that non-residents/non-visitors have the need to be able to park in our 
community grounds. One could think repossessing land would make sense when it has been abandoned or kept 
in a poor state. However, Dicksonnfield has been maintained to a high degree of standard for years, effort that 
was paid with residents money. 
  
Since it was built in 2004 Dicksonfield has been solely a residents and owners state as appears on its Title 
Deeds. I fail to see how the order TRO/22/17 will bring anything positive to residents or the community. 
 

 
(4) 

 
1 To improve amenity in Dicksonfield and the wider neighbourhood, and in line with the trend towards more 
environmentally responsible travel options, we would suggest that the area controlled by CEC within 
Dicksonfield should include one or two  
 
EV charging points and one or two car club spaces.  
2. Similarly some space could be given for secure cycle storage bins – existing cycle storage is susceptible to 
theft. 
3 We note the proposal to extend double yellow lines across the front of three residents parking spaces behind – 
that is, to the south-east of - Block 13. We do not believe that cars parked in those spaces cause, or are likely to 
cause, any form of obstruction, and request that new lines not be painted. 
4 We note that some residents may be confused by the existence of two distinct permits for parking in 
Dicksonfield. We would appreciate some assistance in making the situation clear to our residents. 
 

 
Dicksonfield 

 
(5) 

 
Myself and my wife would like to object to this proposed traffic regulation order for the following reasons: 

 
Dicksonfield 

P
age 30



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 25 of 37 
 

 
1) The reduction of private parking spaces around my property could reduce the value of our property. 
2) The introduction of public/pay and display spaces in the car park will increase the risk of non permit holders 
taking private spaces when the pay and display sections are full, thus reducing the availability of spaces for 
myself and fellow residents. 
3) The reduction in private parking spaces in the development will increase the competition for the remaining 
spaces and could lead to residents having to pay for parking within the new pay and display spaces. 
 
Overall this proposal provides residents with no advantages, but several disadvantages in regards to their 
parking rights and property values within the development. 
 

 
(6)  

I have a number of detailed comments, as follows:-  
1. The consultation process appears flawed as the owners should surely have been contacted by letter for such 
a legally important ma\er. It was only by luck that I became aware of the consultation, but with limited time to 
respond. I suspect you will only receive a few comments, due to your inadequate method of communication  
Non. 2. The spaces are almost fully occupied by the residents’ vehicles. I estimate that there are almost 120 
spaces in total within Dicksonfield, of which about 108 are legally allocated to the owners of the Dicksonfield 
flats. The number of spaces is fewer than the number of flats - 126 according to the Registers of Scotland - so 
there is currently less than one space per flat. This ratio of spaces to flats is in accordance with the CEC 
Planning Policy for new residential property.  
3. Your ‘Statement of Reasons’ effectively states that the proposed introduction of restrictions is not in response 
to any complaints. It seems bizarre to introduce a measure, which will create many complaints, to address what 
is perceived as an issue to only CEC.  
4. The proposal would result in 21 of the 108 car parking spaces being removed from the Dicksonfield owners – 
20%. Losing 32 of the almost 120 total spaces is a loss of 27% within the Dicksonfield boundary. The parking 
spaces to be removed are in the most convenient location for most of the residents. The residents who will be 
most affected are those living in block numbers 3, 4, 5 and 6 who would have to park to the north-west of the 
buildings, where access is narrow and sloping and difficult for longer cars to access.  
5. Increased pollution below windows in this residential area would be detrimental to the health of the residents. 
The proposal will increase pollution as residents will probably need to drive all around Dicksonfield to search for 
a free space, thereby creating congestion as cars have to reverse out from areas ager failing to find a space, 
and also have to wait for vehicles to manoeuvre in the restricted north-west area. Some non-residents drivers 

 
Dicksonfield 

P
age 31



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 26 of 37 
 

entering Dicksonfield will no doubt have to turn ager failing to locate a free space or wait with idling engines until 
a space becomes free.  
6. Creating a mix of resident car parking and permit/paid parking within Dicksonfield will create problems. It is 
almost certain to result in residents getting fines for parking in spaces that they may have parked in for over 20 
years, whilst non-residents will occupy resident car parking to avoid paying a parking charge, or if they are 
unsure about which is permit parking and which is private resident parking. The result would be even more car 
parking spaces lost to residents.  
7. Your drawing of the existing situation on shows no double yellow lines in Dicksonfield. There are already 
sections of double yellow lines in areas that are deemed unsuitable to park. These are satisfactory and 
extending them further would remove perfectly usable parking spaces that do not interfere with traffic 
movements around Dicksonfield. 
 

 
(7) 

 
1. The car parking within Dicksonfield is normally almost full, so the proposal to remove 20% of the spaces 
owned by the flat owners and 27% of the spaces within the Dicksonfield boundary will have a major, adverse 
impact on the ability of the residents and their visitors (utilising a flat’s resident’s permit) to park.  
2. The proposal is to remove the most easily accessed spaces. Many of the remaining spaces in the north-west 
corner of Dicksonfield are difficult to access in anything but the smallest of cars.  
3. Creating a mix of resident car parking and permit/paid parking within Dicksonfield will create problems. Non-
residents are likely to occupy resident car parking spaces to avoid paying a parking charge, or because they are 
unsure about which is permit parking and which is private resident parking. The result would be even more car 
parking spaces lost to residents.  

4. Your proposal shows the removal of a length of parking 8.5m long outside block 13, which currently provides 
three parking spaces. This change appears to serve no purpose and seems totally un-necessary.  

5. Increasing sections of double yellow lines also appear un-necessary, as access around Dicksonfield appears 
to be adequate at present.  
 

 
Dicksonfield 

P
age 32



Appendix 5 – Road Adoption Certificates 

 

Allanfield 

 

Page 33



 

Allanfield Place 

 

 

 

Page 34



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 29 of 37 
 

Dicksonfield

 

 

 

Page 35



Appendix 6 – Road Adoption Plans  

Road adoption plans Allanfield and Allanfield Place 

P
age 36



 

Road adoption plan Dicksonfield 

P
age 37



Appendix 7 – 22/17 Draft Traffic Regulation Order  

 

Page 38



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 33 of 37 
 

 

 

Page 39



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 34 of 37 
 

Appendix 8 – 22/17 Statement of Reasons 

 

STATEMENT OF REASONS  
 
THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL (TRAFFIC REGULATION; RESTRICTIONS ON 
WAITING, LOADING AND UNLOADING, STOPPING AND PARKING PLACES) (VARIATION 
NO 3) ORDER 2021 - TRO/22/17  
 
Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield  
 
Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield are residential streets located within the general 
boundary of Zone N1 of the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ).  Although located within Zone N1 of 
the CPZ, only limited sections of carriageway within Allanfield, Allanfield Place, and Dicksonfield 
currently have parking restrictions in place,  
 
While it might be the case that the Council would seek to introduce parking permit schemes only 
where there have been complaints from residents regarding parking provisions, it must also be 
considered that such schemes can also support the Council's Transport policy objectives.  As 
such, it is necessary to ensure that parking is controlled across the entirety of Zone N1, by 
including Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield, to affect the same management of parking 
as exists in other streets within the CPZ boundaries. 
 
On this basis, it is now proposed to commence the legal process to bring Allanfield, Allanfield 
Place and Dicksonfield into the CPZ, and to initiate the TRO consultation process to enable the 
introduction of a mixture of shared use and permit holder parking places, along with yellow lines in 
locations where it would be unsafe or inappropriate to allow parking. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



Appendix 9 – Advertised Traffic Regulation Order drawings 

 

 

P
age 41



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 36 of 37 
 

 

P
age 42



Licensing Sub-Committee – 5 March 2024  Page 37 of 37 
 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Licensing Sub-Committee of the 
Regulatory Committee 

9.45am, Tuesday, 5 March 2024   

Proposed Parking Controls, Bell’s Mills and Dolphin 

Gardens West 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards 5 -  Inverleith, 2 - Pentland Hills 

  

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Licensing Sub-Committee:  

1.1.1 In respect of Traffic Regulation Order TRO/22/16: 

1.1.1.1 Set aside the objections to the Traffic Regulation Order 

TRO/22/16 as previously advertised and authorised by the 

Transport and Environment Committee on 31 March 2022; and  

1.1.1.2 Approve the making of TRO/22/16 as advertised to add shared 

use parking bays within Bell’s Mills to the N5 area of the 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ).  

1.1.2 In respect of Traffic Regulation Order TRO/21/12: 

1.1.2.1 Set aside the objections to the Traffic Regulation Order 

TRO/21/12 as previously advertised and approved by the Head 

of Network Management and Enforcement under delegated 

authority in May 2021; and  

1.1.2.2 Approve the making of TRO/21/12 as advertised to introduce 

waiting restrictions at Dolphin Gardens West.  

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Gavin Brown, Network Management and Enforcement Manager 

E-mail: gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3823 

Page 45

Agenda Item 3.2

mailto:gavin.brown@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

 
Report 
 

Proposed Parking Controls, Bell’s Mills and Dolphin 

Gardens West 
 

2. Executive Summary  

2.1 This report details the outcome of the advertisement of two draft Traffic 

Regulation Orders (TRO/22/16 and TRO/21/12) for proposed parking controls, 

including objections relating specifically to two locations – Bell’s Mills (West 

End) and Dolphin Gardens West (Currie). 

2.2 As more than six objections have been received for both TRO/22/16 and 

TRO/21/12, authority is sought to make the advertised Traffic Regulation 

Order (TRO) with amendments as outlined in this report, namely, to proceed 

to implement the revised Bell’s Mills proposals, and to proceed to implement 

the Dolphin Gardens West proposals. 

 

3. Background  

Bell’s Mills TRO/22/16 

3.1 For a number of years, restrictions that should have been in-place along the 

full extent of Bell’s Mills in the West End had not featured on carriageway, 

therefore what was on the ground did not match the legal traffic order. This 

resulted in sections of unrestricted parking on Bell’s Mills and therefore 

unregulated parking opportunities within zone 5 of the Controlled Parking 

Zone (CPZ). This was rectified in August 2022, with yellow line restrictions put 

onto the carriageway to match the traffic order. 

3.2 In addition to ensuring the restrictions on Bell’s Mills were implemented to 

match the legal order, and due to parking pressures in the local area with 

there being more people with parking permits than parking bays available, on 

31 March 2022, Transport and Environment Committee approved the 

commencement of the legal process required to amend the existing 

restrictions to formalise parking places within Bell’s Mills.  In August 2022, the 

Page 46

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s45896/7.3%20-%20Proposed%20Parking%20Controls%20Hatters%20Lane%20Powderhall%20and%20Bells%20Mills%20West%20End.pdf


Council formally advertised the proposals through draft traffic order 

TRO/22/16 in accordance with legislative requirements. 

Dolphin Gardens West TRO/21/12 

3.3 Dolphin Gardens West in Currie was one of several locations proposed 

through a Proposed Amendments to Waiting and / or Loading Restrictions 

report, approved by the Head of Network Management and Enforcement 

under delegated authority in May 2021. In February 2023, the Council formally 

advertised the associated location proposals through draft traffic order 

TRO/21/12 in accordance with legislative requirements. 

Legal Framework and Council Scheme of Delegation  

3.4 The TROs were made in terms of Section 1 of the Road Traffic Regulations 

Act 1984.  The detailed process for making a TRO is set out in the Local 

Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure)(Scotland) Regulations 1999. In terms of 

the Regulations given the scope of both TRO/22/16 & TRO/21/12 where there 

remain unresolved objections, it remains a matter for the Council as Roads 

Authority to determine whether to proceed to make each order as advertised. 

3.5 In terms of the Council’s statutory scheme of delegation the Executive 

Director of Place has the power to make TROs provided no statutory 

objections are received and no more than six material objections are received 

from the public. As more than six objections have been received for both 

TRO/22/16 and TRO/21/12, Committee approval is required to make the 

TROs.    

3.6 Where the decision on whether to approve a TRO is referred to the 

Committee, it may either: 

3.6.1 Approve the TRO as advertised; 

3.6.2 Approve the TRO with minor modifications, provided such 

modifications would not extend the application of the order or increase 

the stringency of any prohibition or restriction contained in it 

(Regulation 10 of the 1999 Regulations); 

3.6.3 Direct that a public hearing is to be held on the proposed TRO, in 

terms of Regulation 8 of the 1999 Regulations, chaired by an 

Independent Person; 

3.6.4 Approve making the TRO in part; or  

3.6.5 Refuse the TRO. 

 

 

Page 47



4. Main report 

Bell’s Mills TRO/22/16 

4.1 The Bell’s Mills proposals, to install shared use parking bays (Appendix 1) 

advertised under TRO/22/16, received nine objections.  

4.2 The main themes associated with the objections (Appendix 2) were access 

issues associated with formalised parking provision and road geometry - with 

Bell’s Mills being a narrow cul-de-sac on a hill with a ninety-degree bend. 

Concerns thus centred on narrow carriageway space being taken up by 

parking creating access difficulties for large goods vehicles, emergency 

vehicles and general manoeuvrability in winter weather linked to the road 

gradient.  

4.3 Residents were also concerned that shared use parking bays would see a 

return to issues previously experienced (prior to restrictions being 

implemented), with the street used by guests of the nearby hotel as an 

overflow car park, and instances of anti-social behaviour by hotel guests. 

4.4 Based on the number and nature of objections raised, and as parking 

restrictions have already been introduced at this location, it is now proposed 

to revise the proposal to introduce shared parking bays into Bell’s Mills. This 

would introduce a reduced number of shared use parking bays from eight 

down to five, which would help towards accommodating the known parking 

demand locally, whilst mitigating the safety and access issues established 

through the TRO consultation. The revised proposal is shown in Appendix 3. 

Dolphin Gardens West TRO/21/12 

4.5 The original request for parking restrictions on Dolphin Gardens West came 

from Waste Services, as parked vehicles on the corners of the street 

restricted access causing waste and other large vehicles to leave the 

carriageway and drive on and damage two adjacent grass areas. It is at these 

two locations - shown also in Appendix 1 - where the parking restrictions were 

proposed. 

4.6 Of the 19 on-street locations proposed for parking restrictions as part of the 

advertised order TRO/21/12, Dolphin Gardens West was the only location to 

receive objections, receiving eight objections which are detailed in Appendix 4 

and have been grouped by objection theme.  

4.7 The main objection themes related to a loss of residents parking, which 

adversely impacts those with mobility difficulties (due to having to park further 

away from their homes) and parking pressures in the surrounding local area 

reducing alternative nearby parking opportunities.  

Page 48



4.8 As a result of these objections, officers have since engaged with Waste 

Services to establish if operations could be undertaken by using smaller 

waste collection vehicles, however, they have confirmed that such vehicles 

are not available, and they reiterated their support for restrictions at Dolphin 

Gardens West to assist with safe access. 

4.9 With regards to the nature of the objections raised, it is the officers view that 

since most properties in Dolphin Gardens West have a driveway, and that 

only two corner sections of restrictions are proposed where large vehicles are 

forced to leave the carriageway, then there are still opportunities for residents 

to park in their driveways and on-street, with only a small number of property’s 

not benefiting from off-street parking. 

4.10 And as Dolphin Gardens West is not in a CPZ then this offers various 

unrestricted parking options in surrounding streets for anyone who cannot 

benefit from driveways or on-street parking opportunities on Dolphin Gardens 

West.  

4.11 Due to the support by Waste Services for these restrictions and the 

associated operational and safety benefits associated with waste vehicles not 

having to leave the carriageway, and due to the alternative parking 

opportunities on-street and in driveways for residents of Dolphin Gardens 

West, it is recommended that Committee authorises this proposal to proceed, 

and for the legal order to progress to enable the introduction of restrictions in 

Dolphin Gardens West. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Although objections have been received in response to TRO/22/16, it is 

recommended that this proposal is implemented to help relieve some of the 

parking pressures in the local area associated with there being more parking 

permits locally than there are parking places. In addition, the objections that 

were raised at this location have been addressed through this report, with 

safe access maintained for all vehicle movements through these proposals. 

5.2 Similarly, although objections have been received in response to TRO/21/12 it 

is recommended that this proposal should go ahead, as it will safely assist 

large vehicle movements to avoid such vehicles leaving the carriageway, and 

since the yellow lines would be installed mostly in front of residential 

properties featuring driveways, such off-street parking provision helps to 

reduce parking impacts upon local residents. 

Implementation  

5.3 Should Committee authorise the revised proposal of the Bell’s Mills TRO, then 

all objectors will be contacted to advise them of this decision and the Council 

Page 49



will proceed to make TRO/22/16 to introduce a reduced number of shared use 

parking bays on Bell’s Mills. It is anticipated that the changes proposed by the 

Order will begin to be implemented following Committee. 

5.4 Should Committee authorise the commencement of the Dolphin Gardens 

West proposals, then all objectors will be similarly contacted to advise them of 

this decision and the Council will proceed to make TRO/21/12 to introduce 

parking restrictions at various locations including Dolphin Gardens West. It is 

anticipated that the changes proposed by the Order will begin to be 

implemented following Committee. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 There are costs involved in processing the TROs and introducing shared use 

bays in Bell’s Mills and parking restrictions in Dolphin Gardens West and the 

other locations contained in TRO/21/12 as well as for the introduction of signs 

and road markings associated with any new controls.  These costs will be 

contained within existing Parking budgets. 

6.2 The introduction of parking opportunities to Bell’s Mills may result in a very 

small increase in parking income to the Council.  This income will be allocated 

towards the operation of the Council’s parking scheme and allocated to the 

funding of transport improvements, in accordance with the legislative 

requirements for income raised from parking charges. 

 

7. Equality and Poverty Impact 

7.1 The City Mobility Plan (CMP) sets out Edinburgh’s strategic framework for 

achieving sustainable and effective mobility across the city. Policy measure 

Movement 17 within the CMP is focused on waiting and loading restrictions: 

‘Review, apply and enforce parking, waiting and loading restrictions whilst 

balancing the needs of local businesses and residents and people with 

mobility difficulties. 

7.2 The 2019 CMP had an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) undertaken, and in 

December 2023 a ‘Delivering Actions for Parking – Supporting Information: 

Waiting and Loading Controls on Main Traffic Routes’ IIA was finalised as part 

of the broader CMP Implementation Plan, that has a focus encompassing 

parking restrictions on all street types, beyond main traffic routes. The CMP 

and the Waiting and Loading Controls IIAs are published and publicly 

available on the Council’s website. 

7.3 The waiting and loading restrictions IIA identifies the following positive 

impacts:  

Page 50

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29320/city-mobility-plan-2021-2030
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1228963/city-mobility-plan
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory-record/1599313/delivering-actions-for-parking-waiting-and-loading-restrictions-on-main-traffic-routes


7.3.1 The ability to keep streets clear of hazardous parking always enabling 

the safe flow of traffic;  

7.3.2 Waiting or loading restrictions can help discourage private car use 

while encouraging the use of public transport as well as walking, 

wheeling, and cycling. Improved air quality (resulting from parking 

restrictions/management) within Edinburgh makes the city a more 

pleasant place to work particularly for those working outside; and 

7.3.3 Improved air quality also greatly helps children and young people, as 

poor air quality can damage lung development and can result in 

breathing conditions such as asthma.  

7.4 Potential negative impacts to disabled people were identified in the IIA 

associated with parking restrictions, however, these are offset by the Council 

enabling Blue Badge holders to park free of charge and without time limit on 

yellow lines as long as they are not causing an obstruction to vehicle flow at 

that location. 

 

8. Climate and Nature Emergency Implications 

8.1 As a public body, the Council has statutory duties relating to climate 

emissions and biodiversity.  As part of the City Mobility Plan a Strategic 

Environmental Assessment was carried out, which concluded that the 

cumulative impacts of managing private car use and reducing commuting by 

private car travel, as enacted through parking controls proposed in this report, 

would have a positive impact on reducing environmental impact and 

responding to climate change risk. 

 

9. Risk, policy, compliance, governance and community impact 

9.1 Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) are required to enable enforcement of    

parking restrictions, this process includes a pre-TRO consultation period, 

followed by a statutory consultation period allowing the public to make 

representations in support of or object to the proposals. Comments are sought 

from the emergency services and other stakeholders in advance of public 

consultation.  These legal requirements have been complied with for both 

TRO/22/16 and TRO/21/12. 

9.2 Formal advertisements of traffic orders to the general public are 

communicated online, via local press, and street notices are erected on 

existing street furniture within affected streets, Community Councils and 

Councillors are also informed of proposals. These methods increase 

awareness to local residents and businesses of yellow line proposals, which 

Page 51

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/30541/city-mobility-plan-including-lez-strategic-environmental-assessment-sea-jacobs-the-city-of-edinburgh-council-february-2021-
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/30541/city-mobility-plan-including-lez-strategic-environmental-assessment-sea-jacobs-the-city-of-edinburgh-council-february-2021-


explains their opportunity to object or support the proposals. Both the legal 

requirements and the Council’s usual additional steps to inform the public of 

proposals have been complied with for TRO/22/16 and TRO/21/12. 

9.3 Comments received from the public are taken into consideration before 

determining whether to proceed with or abandon any proposals.  

9.4 The recommendation to support the Bell’s Mills revised proposal has been 

influenced by the TRO consultation feedback along with the permit parking 

demand in the wider area - zone 5 of the CPZ. 

9.5 The proposals for parking restrictions in Dolphin Gardens West were met with 

notable opposition to the proposals (eight objections), with perceived negative 

impacts to those who cannot benefit from parking in driveways or those who 

require additional parking opportunities on-street. On-street parking 

opportunities will still exist, however, on Dolphin Gardens West and in 

neighbouring streets. Importantly, the proposals will eliminate the risk of large 

vehicles leaving the carriageway and driving over an area of grassland, that 

according to the consultation feedback, is used as a play area by children. 

The proposals also support Waste Services in carrying out collection 

operations in a safe and efficient manner. 

 

10. Background reading/external references 

10.1 None 

11. Appendices 

Appendix 1  Proposals for Bell’s Mills / Dolphin Gardens West. 

Appendix 2  Bell’s Mills objections. 

Appendix 3  Consultation data Bell’s Mills.  

Appendix 4  Revised proposals for Bells Mills. 

Appendix 5  Dolphin Gardens West objections. 

Appendix 6  Consultation data Dolphin Gardens West. 

Appendix 7  Statement of reasons. 

Appendix 8  Draft Order TRO/21/12 

Appendix 9  Draft Order TRO/22/16 

Appendix 10  Delegated powers report TRO/21/12. 

  

Page 52



Appendix 1- Proposal for Bell’s Mills and Dolphin Gardens West 

 

 

Bell’s Mills 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Dolphin Gardens West 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Appendix 2 – A schedule of the main issues raised through objections received against Traffic 

Regulation Order TRO/22/16 (Bell’s Mills)                                                                                                                     

 

Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 3 

Access issues Even with no parking bays, the road is 
difficult: As well as a sharp steeped bend at 
the very top of the road (turning into Bell's 
Mills from Belford Road), the road bends 
again, fairly sharply - with the entrance to 
the hotel car park on one side and a 
driveway a little further on the other. There 
are often coaches parked at the top on 
Belford Road outside the hotel fire exit, 
making it difficult to see oncoming traffic 
when turning in & out of the road. 

9 Proposal revised to 
provide shared use 
parking where the 
carriageway is wider, with 
the proposed bays 
removed from the vicinity 
of the right-angled bend. 

Proposal 
was revised 

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Hotel parking. 

 

The hotel does not advertise that it does not 
have enough spaces for all guests. Long 
experience has shown that when the 
parking bays are introduced, they end up 
being used as overflow hotel spaces and 
taxi parking and are therefore unlikely to 
benefit permanent residents who will be 
permit holders 

7 Proposal revised to 
provide shared use 
parking where the 
carriageway is wider, with 
the proposed bays 
removed from the vicinity 
of the right-angled bend. 

 

 
 

No action 
required 

2,3,4,5,7,8,9 

P
age 55



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 3 

 

Emergency 
services and 
Waste 
access  

Bell’s Mills provides the only access to 
the 24 flats at the bottom of the hill. As 
such it must be suitable for emergency 
vehicles, bin lorries etc. It is interesting 
that there is a notice at the top stating 
that it is not suitable for long vehicles. I 
can personally agree with that, as when 
previously parking was allowed, I was 
driving out and met the bin lorry in the 
top half. I had to reverse right into the 
corner (as instructed by the driver of the 
bin lorry) to avoid its back hitting my car 
as it turned the corner.  Using the road 
has been much safer since parking was 
discontinued. 

9 No complaints or issues 
raised from Emergency 
services or Waste Services 
with regard to vehicle 
access at this location. 

 
 

No action 
required 

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Footway 
parking 

This road is also a route to the Water of 
Leith and used by many hotel and non-
hotel pedestrians, especially dog 
walkers, children and cyclists. Large 
groups of hotel guests walk up the road 
to the coaches parked at the top of the 
hill. There is only a pedestrian walkway 
on one side. It is not uncommon to find, 
at peak hotel times, that hotel traffic 
parks on the walkway and it is 
inaccessible. This forces pedestrians 
onto the road and creates a safety issue. 
Prior to the painting of the double yellow 
lines. 

1 Pavement parking is now 
illegal and will be stopped 
with regular parking 
attendant visits, this can 
also be reported using the 
council website. 

Parking 
attendant 
visits 

2 

P
age 56



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 3 

 

Revise 
parking 
proposal 

While I suspect that creating three 16m 
parking bays would see a return to the 
original problems, I wonder if this could 
be avoided by having smaller parking 
bays, such as 8m each, which would 
ensure there is space for cars and vans 
to maneuver and create ‘passing places’ 
to facilitate two way traffic. I would also 
enquire whether there were physical 
solutions to deter parking on double 
yellow lines (such as heavy planters used 
in the city) rather than the issue of tickets 
which is proving ineffective. 

1 Parking proposal has 
been revised to increase 
passing places. 
 

No action 
required 

5 

Weather 
Emergency 

Bells Mills residents is that the access 
road has a very high gradient (1 in 4 in 
places) and a blind right-angled corner, 
leading to major issues from residents 
and hotel access during ice and snow 
conditions. The addition of parking in the 
vicinity of slippery hill conditions provides 
an additional unwanted and potentially 
dangerous complication which has 
proved difficult in the past. 

2 There is a grit bin that has 
been installed by the 
council at the top of the 
hill for local use. Also, 
residents can request 
extra gritting visits during 
weather emergency by 
contacting the council 
customer care line. 0131 
200 2000 

None. Grit 
bins are 
provided, and 
parking 
proposals 
enable safe 
passing and 
manoeuvring. 

5,9 

Anti-social 
behaviour 

Anti-social behaviour. In 2021, there 
were frequent occurrences of anti-social 
behaviour of car users who were parked 
legally and illegally on this road. 
Numerous instances of loud music, 
alcohol consumption, and open use of 
recreational drugs were seen in the 
evenings. Several female residents of 
Bell’s Mills were verbally harassed by 
these intoxicated individuals when going 

2 The proposal has been 
revised to reduce the 
number of parking bays at 
the hotel. Anti-social 
behaviour can be reported 
to the police using the non-
emergency number 101. 

No action 
required 

5,9 

P
age 57



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 3 

 

to and from their own homes. Most of 
these individuals appeared to be short-
term hotel guests. The situation of the 
road is that it is not visible from the busy 
Belford Road and these individuals could 
operate with little chance of detection 
from law enforcement. This anti-social 
behaviour has completely ceased since 
the introduction of the full set of double 
yellow lines in late 2021. The planned 
parking spaces allow an opportunity for 
this type of behaviour to return.  

Unused 
parking 

Nearby Underused Parking: I regularly 
walk along the section of Belford Road 
which goes from the Belford Bridge to the 
Dean Bridge and have always noticed 
that many of the parking spaces are 
unused. This is not a through road to 
vehicles as it is closed off at the Dean 
Bridge.  I counted the unused spaces, 
yesterday and last Friday; On both 
occasions there were 20+ unused   in the 
sections labelled   'Permit Holders and 
Pay and Display customers'. I note also 
that there were many spaces in the 
Permit Holders only category. WHY do 
you propose to squash 6 bays into a 
small place like Bell’s Mills with all its 
disadvantages when there are many 
unused spaces just along the road in a 
more accessible safer environment? 

1 The proposal has been 
revised to reduce the bays 
in Bell’s Mills. But the 
records of permits in the 
local area show that there 
are more permits than 
there are parking bays. 

No action 
required 

1 P
age 58



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 3 

 

Alternative 
parking 

Alternative parking is available not far 
away 

2 Although there is other 
areas to park in the N5 
zone records show that 
there are more permits 
than parking bays. 

No action 
required 

7 

 

 

 

 

P
age 59



 

Appendix 3 – Consultation Data TRO/22/16 (Bell’s Mills) 

 

Number Objection 

 
(1) 

 
Having reviewed the plans and application I enter the following observations/ objections / suggestions. I note the availability of 
parking bays in Douglas Gardens are usually free at all times and within easy walking distance on the level with the Hotel and 
the Flats provided with parking bays on private ground for residents in the Bells Mills area. The parking bays as planned on 
Bells Mills road seem specious as the road is not to scale. By creating the spaces you will have a single track road with few 
passing places on a steep hill with poor line of sight. The bays will create a single lane for traffic with a right-angle bend 
halfway down. Vehicles regularly travel down (at inappropriate speed) and will meet, one coming up on the same side 
(particularly at the corner) leading to much reversing particularly when the access is used by refuse trucks and service 
vehicles. The length of the bays should be reduced significantly and preferably removed completely on the upper section 
where visibility is very poor. This is a busy section of road with poor visibility and room for manoeuvre. Many vehicles (some 
hired by visitors unused to our traffic) and taxis access the flats and main entrance to the adjacent Hotel (which is down at the 
bottom of the Hill not as originally planned when built). Pedestrians are often on the road from the hotel and accessing the 
water of Leith with the pavement too narrow at the corner for people to pass without stepping onto the roadway which you are 
planning to narrow. A "trial" of what is planned has been done over a number of years (by default) which resulted in multiple 
complaints, problems with enforcement, access issues for emergency vehicles and council trucks, as well as safety issues. 
Parked vehicles were often left for days or weeks without moving (at no cost) suggesting that most are used by residents 
rather than visitors. There is usually free parking on Douglas Gardens for residents as mentioned above. There may be a 
case for two or three bays lower down however the planned bays on the hill recreate the significant hazards to access and life 
which have been complained about before. 
 

(2) I write to raise concerns regarding the Traffic Order Proposals for Bells Mills. I live in the development at the bottom of Bells 
Mill. This street has had significant difficulties due to parking on that stretch of road. A number of months ago double yellow 
lines were painted which significantly improved the problem. The proposals set out look to reverse the improvements that 
were made.  This road is a steep hill with a blind 90-degree bend with limited visibility. It sees significant bursts of traffic owing 
to the location of the Britannia hotel at the bottom of the hill. Traffic is particularly bad in the late evenings, early morning and 
over busy weekends. The hotel has insufficient parking for the number of guests and the area can become congested quite 
easily.  It also attracts frequent taxis and other vehicles picking up and dropping off customers. The hotel receives numerous 

P
age 60



 

deliveries and also has many trade customers. This means there are heavy vehicles, large vans and trucks moving up and 
down the narrow hill. Recently coaches, which have normally parked at the top of the hill, have been parking at the bottom of 
the hill. It is not uncommon to find multiple cars and vans parked on the double yellow lines. While the road can frequently be 
quiet during the day it can be very busy at peak times for the hotel. The road is also effectively a ‘dead end’ and all traffic that 
travels down the hill must turn and go back up to exit. This is especially a problem when the hotel car park is full as the 
vehicles that can’t find a space then travel back up the hill and meet the que of vehicles looking for a space. A two-way flow of 
traffic is essential. For a long period of time the double yellow lines had not been painted as designed and were only recently 
repainted correctly. Prior to the correction cars would park in the same places as the parking bays that are being proposed. 
This effectively narrowed the road to single file traffic and created significant access problems, including for emergency 
services should they be required. It became a challenge for larger vehicles such as refuse collection and delivery vehicles at 
both our development and the hotel. Cars and vans meeting each other going up and down the road have to reverse around 
a blind 90-degree bend with poor visibility to allow traffic flow. This problem was compounded by hotel customers parking on 
the double yellow lines. While I appreciate that you are not condoning vehicles parking on the double yellow lines, I would 
hope that you appreciate that this is the reality. The hotel traffic is largely overnight and occurs when there are fewer parking 
attendants who visit less frequently, as such illegal parking is frequently unenforced. As the customers do not reside in 
Edinburgh and do not return to the area frequently the parking tickets are less of a deterrent. This road is also a route to the 
Water of Leith and used by many hotel and non-hotel pedestrians, especially dog walkers, children and cyclists. Large groups 
of hotel guests walk up the road to the coaches parked at the top of the hill. There is only a pedestrian walkway on one side. 
It is not uncommon to find, at peak hotel times, that hotel traffic parks on the walkway and it is inaccessible. This forces 
pedestrians onto the road and creates a safety issue. Prior to the painting of the double yellow lines I have seen a number of 
near misses where cars navigating congestion caused by the parked cars have almost collided with pedestrians forced on to 
the road. Many of the issues I describe were solved by the painting of the double yellow lines. Ensuring the road would allow 
two-way traffic reduced the access issues, there was more space for cars to turn and more space for pedestrians. The 
proposals appear to allow space for parking of between 12 and 16 cars and my concern is that this will see a return to the 
issues from before the painting of the double yellow lines.  I appreciate that painting the double yellow lines as they were 
originally planned has reduced the parking capacity in the area. While I suspect that creating three 16m parking bays would 
see a return to the original problems, I wonder if this could be avoided by having smaller parking bays, such as 8m each, 
which would ensure there is space for cars and vans to maneuver and create ‘passing places’ to facilitate two-way traffic. I 
would also enquire whether there were physical solutions to deter parking on double yellow lines (such as heavy planters 
used in the city) rather than the issue of tickets which is proving ineffective.  

 

P
age 61



 

(3) I have lived at Bell’s Mills for 8 years and in that time, until recently, there has been a mixture of double yellow lines and open 
parking spaces.  This caused a lot of traffic congestion on this narrow and windy access road.  The situation was 
compounded by Britannia hotel staff and residents parking illegally on the restricted areas of the road.  The Bell’s Mills flat 
owners asked the council to address this situation and they agreed to put double yellow lines down the whole length of the 
road on both sides. This happened in 2022. These lines should have been in place all along according to the original traffic 
order for the road. This is a particularly narrow road with a tight bend which is heavily used due to the Britannia hotel 
reception access. The proposed parking bays will put us back in the same position we were in a year ago when we first 
contacted the council for help.  It seems that hotel guests see cars parked in bays and feel it is therefore fine to park on 
double yellow lines alongside them.  This leads to the road becoming impassible and risks emergency services etc being 
unable to gain access if required. You will be able to review historic parking penalty notices to see how bad the situation has 
been in the past. Even without any illegal parking, the proposed new spaces make using the road difficult. If a large van parks 
in one of them then access becomes very difficult, particularly on the tight bend part of the road at the top.  The proposed 
spaces outside Bell’s Mills house also cause issues when deliveries, taxis and hotel guests etc park in the area outside the 
hotel reception right opposite the parking bays - access to and from my flats then becomes extremely difficult. Your proposal, 
exasperated by the many buses parking at the top of the road for the hotel and the volume of taxis dropping off guests will 
see a return of the problems we have seen over the years and tried so hard and for so long to resolve. Personally, I have 
previously faced difficulty driving my small car to and from my property and do not want this situation to return.  I attach some 
pictures of how parking restrictions were abused and ignored before we got the full double lines painted. The situation is 
much improved now due to the full lines being in place, but my concern is that by putting in the proposed parking bays things 
will go back to the way they were.  It is dangerous to have so many vehicles on such a small road. Please do not let this 
situation return - it will only be matter of time before there is an accident or emergency vehicle access is blocked. 
  
 
 
 

(4) As a resident of Bells Mills, I would like to bring your attention of the dangers regarding adding parking bays on Bells Mills and 
outside the Brittania Hotel. When the parking bays were there previously, drivers often left their vehicles there for days on 
end, including on the corner of Bells Brae and also outside our gates, (blocking our ability to exit safely and emergency 
vehicles from entering), also forcing many of us residents to reverse back down the hill for vans, lorries, coaches and waste 
refusal vehicles to pass safely. This was an even bigger hazard during inclement weather for drivers and pedestrians alike 
trying to pass safely on the pavement on the brow of Bells Mills. A small, magnified mirror on that same corner doesn’t really 
resolve this issue either. Much of the road is narrow as it is and most Brittania Hotel guests and delivery vehicles (including 
taxis) block the road as it is now without any parking bays. Double yellow lines don’t deter vehicles parking there daily illegally 
either (see the multitude of illegally parked vehicles reported to the Council over the last few weeks as evidence, where rarely 
does anyone issue tickets in the evenings and it’s too late first thing in the morning when everyone’s left).I understand one or 

P
age 62



 

two parking bays might be required by residents, but even those will encourage existing offenders to park there, and so on 
the above points I therefore object to any bays being added to Bells Mills road. 
 

(5) I am surprised and disappointed to see the draft proposal for parking spaces in the access road at Bell’s Mills. This road has 
long been the subject of massive parking issues for residents in terms of access for residents, and for delivery and 
emergency vehicles over the last ten years. Until late 2021, there were no double yellow lines in the spaces marked for new 
parking spaces in TRO/22/16 which directly led to a series of problems with hotel residents and others parking nearby on 
double yellow lines, severely inhibiting access and causing other issues. Many of the illegally parked vehicles were driven by 
hotel guests who are unfamiliar with the area. The extent of this problem is evidenced by a large number of complaints sent to 
local councillors (primarily Max Mitchell), and by the exceptionally high number of parking tickets issued in this small area. 
Illegal Parking In 2021, double yellow lines were installed over the entire length of Bell’s Mills, as detailed in the previous TRO 
that covered this area. Since then, the amount of illegal parking has reduced considerably, leading to better access for 
residents, and also for hotel guests, delivery vehicles and – critically - emergency vehicles. It is a very real fear that the 
installation of parking bays detailed in TRO/22/16 will directly encourage extensive illegal parking, as happened prior to 2021. 
Poor weather access Another routine problem for Bells Mills residents is that the access road has a very high gradient (1 in 4 
in places) Bells Mills residents is that right-angled corner, leading to major issues from residents and hotel access during ice 
and snow conditions. The addition of parking in the vicinity of slippery hill conditions provides an additional unwanted and 
potentially dangerous complication which has proved difficult in the past. and a blind right-angled corner, leading to major 
issues from residents and hotel access during ice and snow conditions. The addition of parking in the vicinity of slippery hill 
conditions provides an additional unwanted and potentially dangerous complication which has proved difficult in the past. 
Note that this road is not a priority for gritting in poor conditions. Anti-social behaviouI n 2021, there were frequent 
occurrences of anti-social behaviour of car users who were parked legally and illegally on this road. Numerous instances of 
loud music, alcohol consumption, and open use of recreational drugs were seen in the evenings. Several female residents of 
Bell’s Mills were verbally harassed by these intoxicated individuals when going to and from their own homes. Most of these 
individuals appeared to be short-term hotel guests. The situation of the road is that it is not visible from the busy Belford Road 
and these individuals could operate with little chance of detection from law enforcement. This anti-social behaviour has 
completely ceased since the introduction of the full set of double yellow lines in late 2021. The planned parking spaces allow 
an opportunity for this type of behaviour to return.  Summary propose that no new parking bays are installed for all these 
reasons and that this plan is fully re-considered. There are ample unused parking spaces in nearby Douglas Gardens, where 
many of the particular Bells Mills issues cannot happen.  If this is not possible, I can only strongly urge the planning authority 
not to place parking bays in the vicinity of the dangerous blind right-angled corner as a compromise (especially on the leg 
between the right-angled corner and Belford Road). This is where the gradient and parking will cause the most acute issue. I 
must applaud Councillor Max Mitchell for his help in dealing with the Bell’s Mills parking matter.  However, when he initially 

P
age 63



 

proposed parking bays for the site, my understanding was that he referred only to a few (two) parking spaces only in the 
lower part of the road, and not to the huge extent proposed in this plan. I believe the current plan will take us back to the 
unacceptable situation seen pre-2021 and I must strongly object.  
 

(6) I am aware of plans to re-allow parking at this location. This is despite parking having recently been banned because of 
historical congestion. I object to this on safety grounds. This is a narrow road, and access to emergency vehicles – in 
particular fire appliances - could be hampered by re-allowing parking. I respectfully request the matter is reconsidered. 
 

(7) I, as a resident in the Bell’s Mills development, strongly object to the proposal to install parking bays in Bell’s Mills. I can only 

assume that the people who made this proposal are not familiar with the area. On a map Bell’s Mills would appear to be a 

little quiet cul de sac.  It is anything but!!!Reasons for Objection1.Geography:  Bell’s Mills goes down from Belford Road to the 

level of The Water of Leith. It is short and therefore steep with a gradient of 1:4 in parts. It is narrow, has a right-angle bend 

and has a footpath down one side, with a blind corner. it does not have a line painted down the middle of the road presumably 

because it is narrow. 2. Bell’s Mills Development: Bell’s Mills provides the only access to the 24 flats at the bottom of the hill. 

As such it must be suitable for emergency vehicles, bin lorries etc. It is interesting that there is a notice at the top stating that 

it is not suitable for long vehicles. I can personally agree with that, as when previously parking was allowed, I was driving out 

and met the bin lorry in the top half. I had to reverse right into the corner (as instructed by the driver of the bin lorry) to avoid 

its back hitting my car as it turned the corner.  Using the road has been much safer since parking was discontinued.3. 

Britannia Hotel: Bell’s Mills provides the only access to the Britannia hotel.  The hotel reception is at the bottom of the hill so 

guests must either drive down or walk down the hill. The people who walk down usually arrive in coaches. For obvious 

reasons the coaches park at the top. The hotel is advertised as having 223 bedrooms. So, every day, many hotel guests walk 

up and down the hill, often pulling suitcases. When parties meet, one must move off the pavement onto the road, sometimes 

at the blind corner.  Taxis also use the road frequently.4. Nearby Underused Parking: I regularly walk along the section of 

Belford Road which goes from the Belford Bridge to the Dean Bridge and have always noticed that many of the parking 

spaces are unused. This is not a through road to vehicles as it is closed off at the Dean Bridge.  I counted the unused spaces, 

yesterday and last Friday; On both occasions there were 20+ unused   in the sections labelled   'Permit Holders and Pay and 

Display customers'. I note also that there were many spaces in the Permit Holders only category. WHY do you propose to 

squash 6 bays into a small place like Bell’s Mills with all its disadvantages when there are many unused spaces just along the 

road in a more accessible safer environment? It does not make sense. I consider it to be dangerous and a waste of money 

and ask you not to proceed with this proposal.             

 

P
age 64



 

(8) I am writing to note some concerns around the proposed parking along Bell's Mills.   Even with no parking, the road is difficult: 
As well as a sharp steeped bend at the very top of the road (turning into Bell's Mills from Belford Road), the road bends again, 
fairly sharply - with the entrance to the hotel car park on one side and a driveway a little further on the other. There are often 
buses parked at the top, outside the hotel fire exit, making it difficult to see when turning in & out of the road.   The road is 
very busy.  As well as daily bin lorries (three different schedules), there are a number of lorries that service the hotel 
frequently - catering, laundry etc., as well as taxis and delivery vans. As such there is high traffic at all times of the day, 
including weekends, and during all seasons.  There is no pedestrian path for part of the street.  Walking down from Belford 
Road to Bell's mills, there is a path on the left-hand side, which then disappears at the hotel car park entrance - only 
reappearing towards the water of Leith.  Parked cars would make this a more dangerous place for pedestrians - a lot of which 
pass through the street to/ from the river.  Having parking along the road would effectively make it a single-track road.  Given 
the high volume (and size) of vehicles, and the difficulty reversing due to the bends & close proximity to the junction with 
Belford Road, this is not safe.   Before the double yellows were in place, we experienced a number of occasions where cars 
parked over our driveway and outside the outward opening gate, blocking access each time.  Access from both are required 
at all times.  While there is an indication of size on the plans, it is not clear from the order where the parking bay would start & 
end.  Before the double yellows were in place, we also experienced antisocial behavior from hotel guests parking outside the 
house - sitting in cars playing music late at night, taking drugs and throwing rubbish through the hedge and onto the 
street.  Creating pay & display bays would take us back to this being a problem.  Fundamentally, the road is not designed for 
the use it already receives - and the parking proposed would only add to the dangers caused by congestion & access 
issues.   
 

(9) I am writing as Secretary for the Bells Mills Owners Association in response to your proposal for shared-use parking bays on 
Bells Mills. I represent the owners and residents of the development at the foot of Bells Mills (i.e. the 24 properties in No.s 2-5 
Bells Mills). I know that a number of residents from the development have already written to you. More still have made their 
views clear to me. I have to say that we are all, unanimously, opposed to the proposal. Bells Mills is a narrow road on a steep 
hill with a 90-degree bend with limited visibility. The road space that would be lost to the new parking bays is similar, in 
location and extents, to the sections that were available for free parking prior to the extension of No Parking controls in late 
2021. Back when parking was allowed, we witnessed repeated and sometimes serious access issues on Bells Mills, 
including, on one occasion, the obstruction of an emergency services vehicle. Your proposal would once again narrow the 
road so that effectively it becomes a single-track road with passing places. We know from long experience that this, combined 
with the traffic levels and/or illegal parking that we have come to expect (mainly associated with visitors to/servicing of the 
Britannia Hotel) would once again lead to serious access problems. Bells Mills can often be quiet during the day, especially 
during less busy periods for the hotel, but it sees much heavier traffic at other times and when the hotel is busier. The hotel 
entrance located at the bottom of the hill attracts increased traffic in the evenings and early mornings, and during busy 
weekends and holidays. The hotel attracts frequent taxis and other vehicles picking customers up and dropping them off. The 
road also carries numerous delivery, trade and service vehicles. This means there are heavy vehicles, large vans and trucks 

P
age 65



 

moving up and down the narrow, steep hill and round the bend. Recently coaches, which normally park at the top of the hill, 
have been parking at the bottom. It is also not uncommon to find multiple such vehicles parked on the double yellow lines 
thereby further reducing the road width. On its website the hotel states that it has over 200 rooms. It also advertises parking 
for guests - but without making clear that the parking availability is extremely limited compared with hotel capacity. As a 
result, the area can become congested quite easily with guests seeking somewhere to park, and often failing to find it. This 
also results in illegal parking, which again narrows the road further and has contributed to the access issues. In our 
experience the council’s parking enforcement team does a good job and has been very responsive to reports of parking 
issues. However, enforcement isn't likely to solve the illegal parking problem. Many hotel guests aren't familiar with the area, 
and the transitory nature of their custom reduces the effectiveness of enforcement as a deterrent. Moreover, parking 
enforcement officers aren’t always available when most needed (evenings, early mornings etc). Historically, there have also 
been instances of antisocial behaviour associated with hotel guests drinking in their parked vehicles on Bells Mills and/or 
playing music loudly. I understand that the residents of Bells Mills House have also suffered from this issue. This situation has 
improved since the parking controls were extended, but we are concerned that such nuisances will recommence if parking is 
reinstated for general use. For all of the above reasons we would strongly recommend that parking in the carriageway 
remains restricted as at present. Alternative parking is available not far away on Douglas Gardens, and on Belford Road east 
of the bridge, and these spaces are rarely if ever all filled. If the traffic authority considers however that it must implement 
some new parking on Bells Mills, we would urge the authority to reconsider the proposals in light of our objections: and 
therefore, reduce the extent of the proposed bays significantly, keep them well clear of the sharp bend (preferably avoiding 
the upper section altogether for reasons of visibility), and restrict their use to Residents Only. 
  
 

 

 

P
age 66



 

P
age 67



 

Appendix 5 – A schedule of the main issues raised through objections received against Traffic 

Regulation Order TRO/21/12 (Dolphin Gardens West) 

Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

Affect 
residents / 
older 
residents / 
families 

I am very concerned at the impact this 
notice will have given that we are in our 
seventies this is going to cause quite a few 
problems for us as our mobility is not what it 
used to be. This is so unfair on young 
families too being unable to park at their 
house and having a distance to walk with 
young children. As I have lived here for 40 
years without any problem and no damage 
to any vehicle parked outside my house, I 
can’t see the reasoning behind this. 

8 Blue Badge holders can 
park free of charge and 
without time limit on. 

No action 
required 

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8 

Busy local 
parking 
already 

I am very concerned at the impact this 
notice will have given that we are in our 
seventies this is going to cause quite a few 
problems for us as our mobility is not what 
it used to be. This is so unfair on young 
families too being unable to park at their 
house and having a distance to walk with 
young children. As I have lived here for 40 
years without any problem and no damage 
to any vehicle parked outside my house, I 
can’t see the reasoning behind this. 

8 Blue Badge holders can 
park free of charge and 
without time limit on yellow 
lines as long as they are 
not causing an obstruction 
to vehicle flow at that 
location. There will still be 
uncontrolled parking areas 
in the street and as most 
properties have driveways 
there will still be parking 
opportunities. 

 

No action 
required 

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8 

P
age 68



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

 

Funds for 
this project 
could be 
used for 
other road 
maintenance 
projects 

Strongly believe the money spent on 
planning, implementing and maintaining the 
proposed work could be used for much more 
important issues, such as repairing the many 
potholes in the area. 

3 Council maintenance 
budgets are used for road 
maintenance, parking 
budgets would not be 
used for pothole repairs. 

No action 
required 

3,4,7 

Not aware of 
waste / 
delivery 
access issue 

The street which is a crescent only used by 
residents of the street itself has never had to 
my knowledge any problems with deliveries, 
bin collecting or otherwise. 

3 Damage to grass areas is 
evidence of vehicles 
mounting the kerb to 
manoeuvre. 

No action 
required 

1,2,6 

This will 
increase 
speeding on 
the corner 

The inner island is a playpark with children 
playing and constantly crossing the street, 
this proposal will make it easier for people to 
speed in this corner. If cars are parked 
people tend to drive with caution. I argue that 
the instalment of these waiting restrictions 
will cause cars to approach the corner at an 
increased speed than at present rendering it 
more dangerous for local children and 
perhaps ironically to the grass itself. 

2 A 20mph speed limit is in 
place at this location. The 
proposal reduces the risk 
of large vehicles mounting 
the kerb and running over 
the grass area. 

No action 
required 

6,8 

P
age 69



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

 

Statement of 
reasons 

Your statement of reason seems to apply to 
the other streets included in this traffic order, 
but our street which is a crescent only used 
by residents of the street itself has never had 
to my knowledge any problems with 
emergency vehicles, deliveries, bin collecting 
or otherwise. The restrictions suggested in 
the inner corner of the crescent would not in 
any way, ‘secure the expeditious, convenient 
and safe movement of vehicular and other 
traffic. ’Indeed, these inner corners are larger 
than the entry and exit of the above-
mentioned crescent so no vehicle that can’t 
currently fit in the street would fit in the event 
these restrictions are implemented. 

1 Waste Services support 
this proposal due to their 
large goods vehicles 
mounting the kerb and 
running over grass areas. 
A request was made to 
Waste Services exploring 
the use of smaller 
vehicles to uplift waste 
bins at this location, 
however, this was not 
operationally feasible. 

No action 
required 

8 

Property 
value 

Our house is the biggest investment we have 
made, and the no parking options will affect 
the value of our property.  

2 There will still be parking 
opportunities in the street 
as there will only be two 
sections of yellow line 
restrictions and these are 
installed where there are 
properties with driveways. 

No action 
required 

1,8 

P
age 70



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

 

Car washing Part of retirement for me is enjoying washing 
and looking after my car. Mentally this will 
influence me particularly during the spring 
and summer not being able to do this outside 
my house.   

1 The yellow line 
restrictions are to be 
placed on bends and 
across from properties 
with driveways. There are 
other unrestricted parking 
opportunities on the 
street. 

No action 
required 

1 

Community We have a good community spirit in the 
crescent each one respecting car parking 
spaces this could change and cause 
problems for people on the bottom road. 

1 Yellow line restrictions are 
to be placed on bends 
and across from 
properties with driveways. 
There are other 
unrestricted parking 
opportunities on the 
street. 

No 
action 
required 

1 

School drop-
off 

This would also be particularly troublesome 
within school hours as the drop-off traffic is 
already bad in the surrounding area.  

1 This proposal should 
make the location safer, 
stopping potential school 
drop off parking on 
corners of the street. 

No action 
required 

3 

P
age 71



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

 

Vulnerable 
resident 

On a personal note, I am a single parent and 
I have a disabled son who has epilepsy, 
autism and as of this moment in time, 
undiagnosed ADHD. He is 8 years old and 
has very little road sense. If the council are 
to put these yellow lines in, I, like everyone 
else will be fighting for a space near my 
house. Whilst my son gets mobility as part of 
his DLA it is at the low rate and therefore, we 
are not entitled to a blue badge. Putting the 
yellow lines in will be a risk to my son if we 
have to park a distance from our house. I 
believe this makes him extremely vulnerable. 

1 The yellow line 
restrictions are to be 
placed on bends and 
across from properties 
with driveways. There are 
other unrestricted parking 
opportunities on the 
street. 

No action 
required 

5 

Visitor 
parking 

The proposal would I believe be 'anti-social' 
not just to my household, but also my 
neighbours and all potential visitors of all 
kinds that wish or need to come to the area. 
It will undoubtedly cause social friction and 
tension for the future as further pressure is 
put on a finite parking resource 

1 The yellow line 
restrictions are to be 
placed on bends and 
across from properties 
with driveways. There are 
other unrestricted parking 
opportunities on the 
street. 

No action 
required 

6 

Protecting 
the edge of 
grass 

However, I personally do not see protecting 
the edge of grass as a relevant reason to 
force local senior residents and families with 
infants to walk long distances to reach their 
homes and negatively impact their daily 
lives. I also find absolutely shocking to allow 
one resident to make this decision for all, I 
hope you realise that these restrictions start 
right after this same resident’s house which 
is located on number 15. His section of the 
road is right on the bend, and I would like to 

1 The proposal has been 
inspected and confirmed 
that with the yellow lines 
will stop large vehicles 
mounting the kerb 
causing a danger to the 
public. No member of the 
public has been involved 
in the decision to install 
the yellow lines or 
influenced the location. 

No action 
required 

8 

P
age 72



Issue Objections Number of 
Objections 

Response Action Related Objection 
Number(s) in 
Appendix 6 

 

know exactly on what ground he has decided 
to keep the parking spot right in front of his 
own house and request double yellow lines 
only starting from his neighbours’ houses. 
This alone is totally inacceptable, leaving 
one man ruling the neighbourhood while 
remaining exempt of his own ‘rule’ despite 
being on the exact spot of the so-called 
problematic corner. I attach a photo and I 
would like a real justification of why the 
section of the road in front of number 15 
should not have restrictions but number 27 
that is further away from the bend should.  

The two proposed 
locations in the street are 
associated with assisting 
the safe movement of 
large vehicles. 

Consultation It is my understanding that no consultation 
with local residents or representatives has 
been held, this would have been common 
sense before poorly advertising this proposal 
in locations barely visible. 

1 The consultation for this 
TRO went through two 
phases and this objection 
came through the second 
‘public’ consultation 
phase, which was 
advertised in the local 
press, and on the council 
website, in addition street 
notices were posted in the 
street. 

No action 
required 

6 

Drop Kerbs All the people involved here have all got 
illegal drop kerbs at their driveways so I think 
it would be advisable to look into this matter 
before even thinking about yellow lines or it 
could be a costly inquiry.  

1 Permits for drop kerbs are 
delt with by our permit 
section and the location 
would be subject to 
investigation by the 
relevant team. 

Report 
resident 
driveway 
issue to 
Road 
Works Co-
ordination 
Team. 

7 

P
age 73



 

Appendix 6 – Consultation Data TRO/21/12 (Dolphin Gardens West) 

 

Number Objection 

 
(1) 

 
I am writing to object to traffic order reference TRO/21/12.Your statement of reason seems to apply to the other streets 
included in this traffic order, but our street which is a crescent only used by residents of the street itself has never had to my 
knowledge any problems with emergency vehicles, deliveries, bin collecting or otherwise. The restrictions suggested in the 
inner corner of the crescent would not in any way, ‘secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and 
other traffic. ’Indeed, these inner corners are larger than the entry and exit of the above-mentioned crescent so no vehicle that 
can’t currently fit in the street would fit in the event these restrictions are implemented. I am very concerned at the impact this 
notice will have given that we are in our seventies this is going to cause quite a few problems for us as our mobility is not 
what it used to be. This is so unfair on young families too being unable to park at their house and having a distance to walk 
with young children. As I have lived here for 40 years without any problem and no damage to any vehicle parked outside my 
house, I can’t see the reasoning behind this. Our house is the biggest investment we have made, and the no parking options 
will affect the value of our property.  Part of retirement for me is enjoying washing and looking after my car mentally this will 
influence me particularly during the spring and summer not being able to do this outside my house.  We have a good 
community spirit in the crescent each one respecting car parking spaces this could change and cause problems for people on 
the bottom road. We the local residents of the street who are the ones using the crescent daily would be greatly impacted by 
these restrictions.  Parking is scarce in the area and not everyone can afford in the current economic conditions to destroy 
their front garden in a very unecological way, in order to park their car. These new restrictions would benefit nobody we would 
need to park over 20-minute walk away as every other resident currently parks in front of their own house leaving no other 
option for us.  Parking at night in badly lit streets would make you feel unsafe as you may have to park a couple of streets 
away. 

 

(2) I have lived in this street for 16 years with no parking issues. most of the neighbours are respectful when it comes to parking. 

This will I’m sure have a knock-on effect to us all. It seems that this will affect me my neighbour. And 1 car along the road. I 

do 10 hours split shifts.so think this is unfair as I try to find parking twice daily.my neighbour as 2 babies. she can’t drop them 

off home. then go looking for a parking place somewhere in the neighbourhood. The other car involved are two retired 

pensioners. We have no issues with bin lorries. Also Amazon, Tesco, Asda, are regular daily visitors in this street .in all the 

years I have stayed here not one person has ever complained about any damage to their vehicles. I feel as I’m being targeted 

P
age 74



 

for 2 damaged patches of grass in the park. That lorry’s drive over.I rent this property retire in 2 months .so can least afford a 

drive way .this is a peaceful street to live in please don’t make it stressful  to go about our daily life’s. 

 

(3) I am writing to object to the proposed double yellow lines on Dolphin Gardens West. These double yellows would cause more 
cars to be parked on the opposite side of the park, therefore making the area more congested than it already is. This would 
also be particularly troublesome within school hours as the drop-off traffic is already bad in the surrounding area. The cars 
parked on the street of Dolphin Gardens West cause no issue to passing vans tending to deliveries. I don’t understand the 
proposal of these yellow lines and feel money from the council should be ploughed into better things for the area.  
 

(4) I am writing to object to the new proposed road markings in Dolphin Gardens West under TR/21/12. This is a residential 
street that requires parking for homeowners and if the prosed was to go ahead it would create inconvenience for everyone 
living on the street as parking would be greatly limited, when it is already an issue. I am failing to understand what the benefit 
of the new road markings would be and feel they have been put in with the little thought for the residents impacted. I believe it 
would cause more disruption in the area, and strongly believe the money spent on planning, implementing and maintaining 
the proposed work could be used for much more important issues, such as repairing the many potholes in the area. I would 
be interested to hear more about these plans and the impact of this objection, so a response would be appreciated 

(5) I write to object to the above City of Edinburgh Council proposal. I live on Dolphin Gardens West. This part of Dolphin 
Gardens West is up round the top stretch of park. The proposed parking restrictions are going to take over more than half of 
this part of our street. While the yellow lines are not going to be outside my house, there are going to be at least 8 cars that 
will not be able to park outside their house as they do now On a personal note, I am a single parent and I have a disabled son 
who has epilepsy, autism and as of this moment in time, undiagnosed ADHD. He is 8 years old and has very little road sense. 
If the council are to put these yellow lines in, I, like everyone else will be fighting for a space near my house. Whilst my son 
gets mobility as part of his DLA it is at the low rate and therefore, we are not entitled to a blue badge. Putting the yellow lines 
in will be a risk to my son if we have to park a distance from our house. I believe this makes him extremely vulnerable. I am 
not aware of the justification for these yellow lines, especially coming so far up our street. This section of Dolphin Gardens 
West is family's and elderly and every single one of us will be affected by these yellow lines not to mention the impact it will 
have on our neighbours at the lower part of Dolphin Gardens West. I and many others, ask that you to reconsider your 
proposal to these parking restrictions.  

(6) I would like to object to proposed TRO/21/12.   I would like to point out we currently have no issue with waste collection as 

well as any other large vehicle fitting through the street, buildings are only located on one side of the road, the other side 

being a very large open park. Many of the residents have lived on the estate for decades and cannot understand why it is felt 

necessary to introduce these new restrictions. Especially as no accidents on this street have been reported and emergency 

services can easily fit. It appears the request may have been sent in an attempt to insure inconsiderate drivers, mostly 

P
age 75



 

delivery vans (and not waste services that I have observed all week driving by without merely touching the edges of the 

grass), do not inadvertently drive over the edges of the grass of the park. This has already been sorted by the addition of 

pebbles in all 4 corners. As it turns out the park has also been covered with traffic cones everywhere, but none in the bends 

funnily enough. This shows that this occurs all around the street and is rather the result of inconsiderate driving which will only 

occur more frequently if traffic is allowed to go faster by removing parked cars. However, I personally do not see protecting 

the edge of grass as a relevant reason to force local senior residents and families with infants to walk long distances to reach 

their homes and negatively impact their daily lives. I also find absolutely shocking to allow one resident to make this decision 

for all, I hope you realise that these restrictions start right after this same resident’s house which is located on number 15. His 

section of the road is right on the bend, and I would like to know exactly on what ground he has decided to keep the parking 

spot right in front of his own house and request double yellow lines only starting from his neighbours’ houses. This alone is 

totally inacceptable, leaving one man ruling the neighbourhood while remaining exempt of his own ‘rule’ despite being on the 

exact spot of the so-called problematic corner. I attach a photo and I would like a real justification of why the section of the 

road in front of number 15 should not have restrictions but number 27 that is further away from the bend should. I understand 

it is the duty of the City Council to serve its residents and not penalise them for a restriction that will not improve traffic flow in 

the street. Waste Services currently do fit and they do not drive on the grass, so do emergency vehicles, any exceptionally 

large vehicle would merely touch the grass on the edges of the park and this certainly does not justify negatively impacting 

elderly residents and families, as surely one’s love of grass must have its limits. The support of Conservative Councillor 

Webber is baffling, has she investigated the matter prior to granting her support or spoken to other residents, according to all 

residents of Dolphin Gardens West it seems not. According to your communication with Councillor Jenkinson she suggested 

first to ask residents to park elsewhere on bin collection day, this ridiculous suggestion was obviously never actually 

observed.  In addition, the introduction of these restrictions will force the residents of Dolphin Gardens West to seek parking 

elsewhere in the area, where parking is already a challenge. The parking issue will effectively be 'pushed' into adjacent areas 

that do not have the necessary spaces. Any trades people or visitors to surrounding houses will need to park on the 

extremely narrow and busy Dolphin Gardens East and Pentland Avenue instead of using the safer option of Dolphin Gardens 

West. These streets already see a lot of traffic due to local schools’ drop-offs and restricting parking in our street as proposed 

will make the situation much worse in this area. I also believe speed of cars will increase as a consequence of 'clearing' the 

area due to the restrictions, with potential safety implications to local residents. If parking is prevented, it will increase vehicles 

speeding. The proposal would I believe be 'anti-social' not just to my household, but also my neighbours and all potential 

visitors of all kinds that wish or need to come to the area. It will undoubtedly cause social friction and tension for the future as 

further pressure is put on a finite parking resource. I do welcome the idea of continuous improvement, but my view is that 

perhaps residents’ taxes should be used to pay for more useful restrictions. The restrictions will create more problems for 

residents and affect their quality of life. Many residents are elderly, some with disabilities and need to park close to their 

P
age 76



 

homes. It is my understanding that no consultation with local residents or representatives has been held, this would have 

been common sense before poorly advertising this proposal in locations barely visible. It seems incredibly undemocratic to 

have public money spent on the request of one resident alone against the wishes of all. I am hoping you will consider the best 

interest of the residents when discussing this proposal.  

 

(7) As a resident  off DGW I am totally disgusted  by what I am hearing about parking restrictions  in my street with a 
resident  who we all know who he is complaining  about delivery vans and refuse  vehicles  going up on grass if you have a 
look at the drop crossing in this street was done by this individual  doing them with no permits for any off them done by 
himself for a backhander the council takes action for this kind of goings on but nothing done so I wish to decline for 
accepting  these yellow lines everyone  is talking about so why if the council are so strapped for money why are you even 
thinking  about this wasting money and time considering  with this if these yellow lines are giving  the go ahead , I wish to take 
this action further with a certain gentleman  that has done the drop crossing for his own condition  of making money  I would 
also like to point out that this is a public park open to any residents  not for 1 certain individual  that thinks he can go to Sue 
Webber and get seats plant boxes for this park and takes for his and family use  This complaint  by 1 of the other people  the 
refuse driver of the vehicle is a friend of the person who thinks he owns the park because he cuts the grass all the 
people  involved  here have all got illegal drop kerbs at their driveways so I think it would be advisable  to look in to this matter 
before even thinking about yellow lines or it could be a costly  inquiry  

P
age 77



 

(8) I am writing to object to traffic order reference TRO/21/12.  Your statement of reason seems to apply to the other streets 
included in this traffic order, but our street which is a crescent only used by residents of the street itself has never had to my 
knowledge any problems with deliveries, bin collecting or otherwise. The restrictions suggested in the inner corners of the 
crescent would not in any way ‘Secure the expeditious, convenaient and Safe mouvement of véhicula and other 
Traffic’. Indeed, these bends are actually larger than the entry and exit of the above-mentioned crescent so no vehicle that 
can’t currently fit in the street would fit in the event these restrictions are implemented. Most houses in these corners already 
have driveways with dropped kerbs preventing anyone from parking and the only houses whose residents parking will be 
taken away by these restrictions do not hinder traffic in any way as they are positioned on both ends of the proposed 
restrictions and not on the actual bend. On the other hand, we, the local residents of the street who are the ones using the 
crescent daily would be greatly impacted by these restrictions. Parking is scarce in the area and not everyone can afford in 
the current economic conditions to replace their front garden with a driveway, in a very unecological way, in order to park their 
car.  It seems incredibly cruel to ask senior residents, some with impaired mobility and families with infants to walk long 
distances each day to reach their property. Parking has taken place in front of these houses for decades by residents, who 
had specifically chosen to live on a street that is off a main road and offers the possibility of parking without hindering traffic. 
The City Mobility Plan Policy is to ‘Review, Apply and enforce parking, Watling and loading restrictions Surely This balance is 
not met in This proposal. Not to mention the impact this would have on our property value which would now have no parking 
option whatsoever. A property we would not have bought with a young family had we known we would not be able to park 
anywhere nearby. Ironically no larger vehicle that those that currently drive through would be able to come in with these new 
restrictions due to the rest of the street being a lot narrower than these corners. Other than preventing us to park these 
restrictions seem completely pointless and inefficient.   It appears this work order originated from the request of a single 
resident (who appears to be a retired bin collector and claims to have contacts within the waste department) who has set to 
stop residents from parking around the street. As ludicrous as it may seem to force local elderly residents to walk up the hill 
with their shopping bags so that they themselves can enjoy flawless grass, it is surprisingly accurate. If solely the residents 
located on the corners of the crescent were upset with this TRO there wouldn’t be much of an issue. As I am sure you are 
aware, it is important to note that no one has an automatic right to park on the road outside their own home. So essentially 
the residents who will lose their usual parking spot will simply park next door and this has obviously been understood by 
absolutely all the residents of the street. All these residents are now panicking as they wish to keep exclusive access to 
parking in their part of the road which is now threatened. All but one, the one resident who requested this TRO and who 
happens to not have included his section of the street in his request as it is starting unsurprisingly right after his house, which 
shouldn’t if it was to stretch equally on both sides of the bend. As per your email to Councillor Jenkinson this same resident 
seems to be the one to have drawn and decided where these yellow lines would go, which is not very professional or 
democratic. I would like to point out that I am also unaware of past requests asking residents to park elsewhere during bin 
collection hours as your team informed Councillor Jenkinson. Is there any official documentation to support the fact this 
request was sent to residents? I know how much we worship grass in the UK however this seems to be turning into an 
unreasonable obsession given that the damage is hardly noticeable. Our park is now covered in traffic cones, these have 

P
age 78



 

emerged all around the inner island (but not on the bends ironically) in an attempt to ensure no driving trespasses on the 
edges of the grass (photo attached). This action alone shows that restricting parking in the bends will have no impact as this 
so-called issue is clearly occurring all around the park. I’d be interested in finding out who has placed all these traffic cones in 
front of our properties, the council or the said resident himself? They are, I hope you’ll agree, very unsightly. I am also 
disappointed about the fact that the local residents of the crescent were not consulted prior to this traffic order being 
advertised despite being the only ones affected. Only two small signs soaked by the rain were posted high up on a lamp post 
in a corner nobody looks at, consequently a number of impacted residents were unaware of it until I personally knocked on 
their door. We did not elect one resident to make decisions for us all and we all would like to be consulted when such 
requests are made. I must also call your attention to the fact the Regulations require consultation with ‘such other 
organisations (if any) representing persons likely to be affected by any provision in the order’. In our case, Manor Estate 
Housing Association that is the organisation representing the residents located in the section of the street concerned by the 
Traffic order has not been consulted.  In addition, in the current conditions parking as it stands does not present a road safety 
hazard, indeed the street is only a crescent used by local residents, however the proposal will displace parked vehicles to the 
adjacent main roads which is more likely to inhibiting visibility and restricts two-way traffic flow. I note nothing is proposed to 
address the potential issue of the transference of parking to an unsuitable area specifically as we are located very near the 
high school which sees a lot of passage, adding cars to that area appears unsafe and unreasonable. Lastly and most 
importantly the inner island is a playpark with children playing and constantly crossing the street, this proposal will make it 
easier for people to speed in this corner. If cars are parked people tend to drive with caution. I argue that the installment of 
these waiting restrictions will cause cars to approach the corner at an increased speed than at present rendering it more 
dangerous for local children and perhaps ironically to the grass itself.  

 

 

P
age 79



 

Appendix 7 Statement of reasons 

 
The City of Edinburgh Council (the Council), as Roads Authority for Edinburgh, has a 
duty under Section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act to “secure the expeditious, 
convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians)”. 
The Council, having considered its duties under the terms of the aforementioned Act, 
has identified locations or has received requests to provide new restrictions, to 
amend existing restrictions or, as the case may be, to remove existing restrictions on 
waiting, loading and unloading. 
 
Restrictions on waiting, loading and unloading have a number of benefits including 
reducing congestion, enabling access and improving visibility and road safety, with 
such restrictions directly supporting the City Mobility Plan policy to ‘Review, apply 
and enforce parking, waiting and loading restrictions whilst balancing the needs of 
local businesses and residents and people with mobility difficulties’. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29320/city-mobility-plan-2021-2030-pdf


 

Appendix 8 – Draft order TRO/21/12 

 

Page 81



 

 

 

Page 82



 

 

 

Page 83



 

 Appendix 9 – Draft order TRO/22/16 

 

Page 84



 

 

Page 85



 

 

Page 86



 

 

 Appendix 10 – Delegated powers report TRO/21/12 

 

 

Report authorised by Executive Director of 

Place under Delegated Powers 

 

10 May 2021 

 

Proposed Amendments to Waiting and / or Loading 

Restrictions, Edinburgh 

 
 

Routine 
 
Wards - 2 Pentland Hills, 4 Forth, 06 Corstorphine / Murrayfield, 7 Sighthill / Gorgie,  
9 Fountainbridge / Craiglockhart, 12 Leith Walk, 13 Leith, 15 Southside / Newington,  
16 Liberton / Gilmerton, 17 Portobello / Craigmillar. 
 

 

  
Council Commitments 18, 19  

 

 

1. Recommendations 

To commence the statutory process required to introduce and amend Waiting and/or 

Loading Restrictions as detailed in this report. 

 

Page 87

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments/delivering-sustainable-future?documentId=12620&categoryId=20141


 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Gavin Graham, Parking and Traffic Regulation Manager  

 

 
Report 
 

Proposed Amendments to Waiting and / or Loading 

Restrictions, Edinburgh  

2. Executive Summary 

The Council, as Roads Authority, has a duty under Section 122 of the Road Traffic 

Regulation Act to “secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of 

vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians)”. 

The Council, having considered its duties under the terms of the aforementioned Act, 

has identified locations where there is a need to provide new restrictions, to amend 

existing restrictions or, as the case may be, to remove existing restrictions on 

waiting, loading and unloading. 

This report provides details for each of the locations where changes are proposed 

and seeks authority to commence the legal process/es required to introduce, amend 

or remove said restrictions. 

 

3. Main report 

The Council receives many requests related to restrictions on waiting, loading and 

unloading. These can involve the following types of request: 

- new restrictions; 

- amendments to existing restrictions; and 

Page 88



 

- removal of existing restrictions. 

In addition, through a process of review of existing restrictions, the Council may itself 

identify locations where it is necessary to introduce, amend or remove restrictions 

on-street. 

 

 

 

This report provides details for a number of such locations and seeks authority to 

begin the legal process to make the required changes to the governing traffic orders. 

 

 

New restrictions 

The Council has identified a need for new restrictions at the following locations: 

Reference Location Restriction Reason 

NR001 Brunstane Mill Road at 

Milton Road East 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR002 3 to 7 Charterhall Grove Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve road    

safety 

NR003 Claycot Park at Ladywell 

Avenue 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR004 o/s 4 Whitehill Road Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR005 o/s 12 Clark Place Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR006 o/s 23 and o/s 45 Dolphin 

Gardens West 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve road 

safety 

NR007 Whitehill Street at 

Maingate Medway 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR008 Gilmerton Dykes Street Single yellow line with 

single yellow kerb 

Prevent loading 

/unloading and 

improve safety 

Page 89



 

markings: 07.30- 09.30 

and 16.00-18.30 

NR009 Ferniehill Road at Drum 

Street 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve road 

safety 

NR010 A1 Industrial Estate Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve road   

safety 

NR011 Western Harbour Drive at 

Western Harbour Way 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

 

NR012 Western Harbour Drive at 

Western Harbour Place 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR013 Lower Granton Road at 

Victoria Court 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines 

NR014 o/s 14 Hermand Street Double yellow line with 

double yellow kerb 

markings  

Prevent loading 

/unloading and 

improve safety 

NR015 Sandpiper Road at 

Newhaven Place 

Double yellow line: 24 

hour restrictions 

Improve 

sightlines  

Plans showing the location and extent of each of the proposed new restrictions can 

be found in Appendix 1 to this report. 

 

Amendments to existing restrictions 

The Council has identified a need to amend restrictions at the following locations: 

Reference Location Restriction Reason 

AR001 o/s 50 Seafield Road at 

Craigentinny Avenue North 

Extend double yellow 

line: 24 hour 

restrictions 

Improve road 

safety 

AR002 o/s 10 Annandale Street Extend single yellow 

line 

Parking bay 

removal 

Page 90



 

AR003 o/s 2 Nellfield Extend double yellow 

line: 24 hour 

restrictions 

Improve road 

safety 

AR004 6 Bankhead Crossway 

North 

Extend double yellow 

line: 24 hour 

restrictions 

Improve road 

safety 

Plans showing the location and extent of each of the restrictions to be amended can 

be found in Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

4. Next Steps 

The legal processes to make the changes detailed in this report will now be 

commenced.  The full detail of those changes can be found within this report and its 

Appendices. 

 

Once legal processes are complete, work will then commence to make any required 

changes on-site, to provide, amend or remove signs and / or road markings as 

required at each location. 

5. Financial impact 

All costs associated with the changes proposed within this report will be met from the 

existing budget allocation for Parking.  

 

6. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

Many of the changes proposed in this report will have come to the Council’s attention 

as a result of engagement with the public, community groups etc. The legal process 

allows opportunities for consultation with affected stakeholders. That process 

involves public consultation, where anyone may make representations in support or 

in opposition to the proposals.  

 

7. Background reading/external references 

None 

 

Page 91



 

8. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Proposed New Restrictions Location Plans. 

Appendix 2 – Proposed Amended Restrictions Location Plans. 

 

Page 92



LICENSING REF NO: 507643
 ITEM NO 

SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

New 

APPLICANT DETAILS:  NAME 

MANAGER 

Mr Roger Brimmer 

Ms Agnieszka Kabzinska 

PREMISES ADDRESS Flat 6, 5 Warriston Road, Warriston, Edinburgh, 
EH3 5LQ 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public Objection x 1 
- Mr M. Reynolds

REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection 

DETERMINATION DATE 02/09/2024 

NOTES: Secondary let, 4 Guests, 2 bedrooms, inspection satisfactory, application for 
a Certificate of Lawfulness pending 

Page 93

Agenda Item 4.1



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING REF NO: 508911
 ITEM NO 

SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

New 

APPLICANT DETAILS:  NAME 

MANAGER 

Miss Christie Brown 

PREMISES ADDRESS 1f3, 14 Meadowbank Crescent, 
Willowbrae, Edinburgh, EH8 7AQ 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objection x 1

- A. Taylor

REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection 

DETERMINATION DATE 16/09/2024 

NOTES: Home Letting and Home Sharing, 2 Guests, 1 bedroom 

Page 107

Agenda Item 4.2



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 509051 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Mrs Caroline May Dassonville 
 

Gail Berwick 
  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS Flat 1, 15 Coltbridge Millside, 

Murrayfield, Edinburgh, EH12 6AP 
  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objections x 3 

- S. Channon 
- D. McGill 
- C. Wilson 

  
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objections 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 18/09/2024 
  

 
NOTES: Secondary Letting, 3 Guests, 2 bedrooms; Inspection Satisfactory; 
Planning application pending 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 4.3



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 509276 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Ms Diana Forrester 
 

Ms Fiona Forrester 
  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS Flat 17, 54b Annandale Street, 

Broughton, Edinburgh, EH7 4AZ 
  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objections x 2  

- S. Wardle 
- C. Flors & T.Vettenburg 

  
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objections 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 20/09/2024 
  

 
NOTES:  Secondary letting, 5 Guests, 3 bedrooms; Inspection Satisfactory, 
Planning application granted (Certificate of Lawfulness); reasons for lateness 
received from objectors C. Flors & T.Vettenburg; applicant provided a formal 
response to objections - included in the papers 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 4.4



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 151

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING REF NO: 512207

       ITEM NO 

SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

New 

APPLICANT DETAILS:     NAME 

MANAGER 

Mr Athanasios Plevris-Papaioannou 

Ms Bethany Jane Plevris-Papaioannou 

PREMISES ADDRESS 14a Hope Street, New Town, Edinburgh, 
EH2 5DB 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objection x 3:

- R. Milne
- J. Cook

- L. Anderson

REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objections

DETERMINATION DATE 30/09/24 

NOTES: Home sharing and home letting, existing host, 6 guests, 3 
bedrooms, objections were received late – late reasons provided; applicant's 
response to objections included in the papers; further comments from Dr
Milne also included

Page 181

Agenda Item 4.5



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING REF NO: 508516
 ITEM NO 

SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

New 

APPLICANT DETAILS:  NAME 

MANAGER 

Miss Ashlie Glynis McCauley 

Miss Ashlie Glynis McCauley 

PREMISES ADDRESS Flat 1, 50 West Port, Old Town, 
Edinburgh, EH1 2LD 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objection x 1 
- E. Colston

REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection 

DETERMINATION DATE 12/09/2024 

NOTES: Secondary let, 2 Guests, 1 bedroom; Inspection Satisfactory, Planning 
Application granted (Certificate of Lawfulness), objection was received late - 
reasons for lateness provided

Page 217

Agenda Item 4.6



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 219

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 508556 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Mrs Petrea Cooney 
 

  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS 3f1, 37 Royal Park Terrace, Abbeyhill, 

Edinburgh, EH8 8JA 
  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objections x 4 

- K. Masterman 
- I. Masterman  
- C. Frost 
- K.Parker and A. Ferrachat 

  
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objections 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 12/09/2024 
  

 
NOTES:  Secondary Letting, 4 Guests, 3 bedrooms, Inspection satisfactory, 
Planning Application granted (Certificate of Lawfulness) 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 235

Agenda Item 4.7



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING REF NO: 508959
 ITEM NO 

SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

New 

APPLICANT DETAILS:  NAME 

MANAGER 

Mr David Hinds 

Mr David Hajducki 

PREMISES ADDRESS 2f3, 77 Rose Street, New Town, 
Edinburgh, EH2 3DT 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public Objection x 1 
- J. Duncan

REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection 

DETERMINATION DATE 18/09/2024 

NOTES: Secondary Letting, 12 Guests, 5 bedrooms, Inspection satisfactory, 
Planning Application granted (Certificate of Lawfulness) 
Objection submitted late - reasons for lateness provided

Page 263

Agenda Item 4.8



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 509395 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Ms Emma Gray 
 

Mr Barry Burton 
  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS 92 Hamilton Place, Stockbridge, 

Edinburgh, EH3 5AZ 
  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objection x 1 

- P. Laing 
  
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection x 1 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 20/09/2024 
  

 
NOTES: Secondary Letting, 4 Guests, 2 bedrooms, Inspection Satisfactory, 
Planning Application pending 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 281

Agenda Item 4.9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 283

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 509724 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 SHORT TERM LETS LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Ms Monika Kraus 
 

Ms Monika Kraus 
  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS Flat 15, 42 Maritime Street, North Leith, 

Edinburgh, EH6 6SA 
  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Public objection x 1 

- F. Smith 
  
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

To consider public objection 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 23/09/2024 
  

 
NOTES: Secondary Letting, 3 Guests, 1 bedroom; Inspection Satisfactory; Planning 
application pending 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 299

Agenda Item 4.10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

Agenda Item 6.1
by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 331

Agenda Item 6.2
by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 508684           ITEM NO 

 
 

 PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENCE 
  

 New 
  
  
  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 
MANAGER 

PORTO CARS LTD 
 

  
  
PREMISES ADDRESS NA 
  
  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  
  

 
 
 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Police Objection 
  
  
  
  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

Objection  

  
  
DETERMINATION DATE 20 April 2024  
  
 
NOTES: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 345

Agenda Item 7.1



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 508725           ITEM NO 

 
 

 PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENCE 
  

 New 
  
  
  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 
MANAGER 

PORTO CARS LTD 
 

  
  
PREMISES ADDRESS NA 
  
  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  
  

 
 
 

REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED Police Objection 
  
  
  
  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

Objection  

  
  
DETERMINATION DATE 20 April 2024  
  
 
NOTES: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 355

Agenda Item 7.2



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 357

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 516691 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE DRIVER 
LICENCE 

  
 New 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Ms Qian Guo 
 

  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS  

  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED  
 Police Scotland 
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

Objection 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 29/08/2024 
  

 
NOTES: 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 365

Agenda Item 7.3



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 367

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LICENSING REF NO: 514339 

          ITEM NO 

 
 

 PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE DRIVER 
LICENCE 

  
 Renewal 

  
  

  
  
APPLICANT DETAILS:             NAME 
 

MANAGER 

Mr Yusuf Eroglu 
 

  

  
PREMISES ADDRESS  

  

  
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED Standard Conditions 
  

  
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED  
 Police Scotland 
  
  

  
REASON FOR BEING CALLED TO 
COMMITTEE 

Objection 

  

  
DETERMINATION DATE 26/07/2024 
  

 
NOTES: 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 377

Agenda Item 7.4



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 379

by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 389

Agenda Item 8.1
by virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 6, 12, 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A
 of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Notice of meeting and agenda
	Licensing Sub-Committee
	9.45 am Tuesday, 5th March, 2024
	Contacts
	1. Order of Business
	2. Declaration of Interests
	3. Traffic Regulation Orders
	4. Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 and Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 - To consider miscellaneous applications
	5. Resolution to Consider in Private
	6. Reports
	7. Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 - To consider miscellaneous applications
	8. Applications to Vary the Conditions of Taxi or Private Hire Car Licences: Exemption to Policy
	Committee Members
	Information about the Licensing Sub-Committee
	Further information





	3.1 Proposed Parking Controls: Allanfield, Allanfield Place and Dicksonfield
	3.2 Proposed Parking Controls, Bell’s Mills and Dolphin Gardens West
	4.1 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 6, 5 Warriston Road, Edinburgh
	Papers - LST - 507643 - Flat 6, 5 Warriston Road
	app andFire Safety
	Martin Reynolds obj
	4.1 - Short Term Let (New) - App - Flat 6, 5 Warriston Road

	4.2 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 1f3, 14 Meadowbank Crescent, Edinburgh
	SS
	Application signed
	Floor Plan
	objection from Allan Taylor
	obj address
	4.2 - Short Term Let (New) - App - 1f3, 14 Meadowbank Crescent

	4.3 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 1, 15 Coltbridge Millside, Edinburgh
	SS
	FINAL Short_Term_Lets_App_Form_v10___Editable
	STL Form v9 - Editable.pdf
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982


	layout plan
	objection Channon
	objection Wilson
	15 1 Coltbridge Millside EH12 6AP Objection McGill
	4.3 - Short Term Let (New) - App - Flat 1, 15 Coltbridge Millside

	4.4 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 54b Annandale Street, Edinburgh
	SS
	APP FORM
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
	PUBLIC NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR SHORT-TERM LETS LICENCE
	The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982(Licensing of Short-term Lets) Order 2022
	Objections or Representations

	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

	LAYOUT PLAN
	TV and CF obj
	tenant letter
	obj - S Wardle
	late reasons
	1
	2
	4.4 - Short Term Let (New) - App - Flat 17, 54b Annandale Street

	4.5 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 14a Hope Street, Edinburgh
	Summary sheet
	Short_Term_Lets_App_Form_v10
	STL Form v9 - Editable.pdf
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982


	14A Hope Street Floor Plan
	Objection to Application from 14 A Hope Street -DATE CORRECTION
	Airbnb Screenshots Dec 23_Jan 24
	dcs obj
	4.5 - Short Term Let (New) - App - 14a Hope Street

	4.6 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 1, 50 West Port, Edinburgh
	SS
	FINAL Application Form - STL - 50-1 Westport Edinburgh
	FLOORPLAN West_Port_50_F1
	objection 13.11.23
	late reasons
	Certificate of Compliance - STL - 50-1 Westport, Edinburgh
	4.6 - Short Term Let (New) -App - flat 1, 50 West Port

	4.7 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 3f1, 37 Royal Park Terrace, Edinburgh
	SS
	Short_Term_Lets_App_Form_v10___Petrea_Cooney
	STL Form v9 - Editable.pdf
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982


	floor plan- use
	I. Masterman late objection 10.02.24
	Objection - Frost
	objection - Iain Masterman
	Objection - Kathryn masterman
	Objection - Parker & Ferrachat
	4.7 - Short Term Let (New) - App - 3f1, 37 Royal Park Terrace

	4.8 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 2f3, 77 Rose Street, Edinburgh
	SS
	STL licence application 775 Rose Street 18.9.23
	Rose St annotated floor plan
	J DUNCAN OBJ
	4.8 - Short Term Let (New) - App - 2f3, 77 Rose Street

	4.9 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - 92 Hamilton Place, Edinburgh
	SS
	Application use
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
	PUBLIC NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR SHORT-TERM LETS LICENCE
	The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982(Licensing of Short-term Lets) Order 2022
	Objections or Representations

	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

	Floor Plan
	92 Hamilton Place short term let objection
	4.9 - Short Term Let (New) - App - 92 Hamilton Place

	4.10 Short Term Lets Licence (New) - Flat 15, 42 Maritime Street, Edinburgh
	SS
	amended application
	STL Form v9 - Editable.pdf
	Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982


	floor plan
	Objection
	4.10 - Short Term Let (New) - App - flat 15, 42 Maritime Street

	6.1 Request for Suspension of Taxi Driver’s Licence
	6.2 Request for Suspension of Private Hire Driver and Private Hire Vehicle Licences
	7.1 Private Hire Vehicle Licence (New) - Porto Cars Ltd
	7.1 - PH Vehicle - Porto cars papers

	7.2 Private Hire Vehicle Licence (New) - Porto Cars Ltd
	7.2 - 508725 - PH Vehicle - Porto cars Papers

	7.3 Private Hire Vehicle Driver's Licence (New) - Ms Qian Guo
	7.3 - 516691 - GUO - Papers

	7.4 Private Hire Vehicle Driver's Licence (Renewal) - Mr Yusef Eroglu
	7.4 - 514339 - Eroglu - Papers

	8.1 Applications to Vary the Conditions of Taxi or Private Hire Car Licences: Exemption to Policy



